
 
 
 
Having trouble reading this? Please call 0115 901 3906 if you need it in large print, audio 

or another format. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Agenda 

Civic Centre,  
Arnot Hill Park,  

Arnold, 
Nottinghamshire,  

NG5 6LU 
 

 

 

Council 
 

 

 

Date: Wednesday 17 November 2021 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Place: Council Chamber 

 
For any further information please contact:  

Alec Dubberley 

Democratic Services Manager 

0115 901 3906 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 

 

Council 
 
Membership 
 
 
Mayor Councillor Meredith Lawrence 
 

Deputy Mayor Councillor Sandra Barnes 

 
 Councillor Michael Adams 

Councillor Peter Barnes 
Councillor Chris Barnfather 
Councillor Pat Bosworth 
Councillor Michael Boyle 
Councillor Nicki Brooks 
Councillor John Clarke 
Councillor Liz Clunie 
Councillor Bob Collis 
Councillor Jim Creamer 
Councillor Boyd Elliott 
Councillor David Ellis 
Councillor Rachael Ellis 
Councillor Roxanne Ellis 
Councillor Andrew Ellwood 
Councillor Paul Feeney 
Councillor Kathryn Fox 
Councillor Des Gibbons 
Councillor Helen Greensmith 
Councillor Gary Gregory 

Councillor Jennifer Hemingway 
Councillor Jenny Hollingsworth 
Councillor Mike Hope 
Councillor Rosa Keneally 
Councillor Ron McCrossen 
Councillor Viv McCrossen 
Councillor Barbara Miller 
Councillor Simon Murray 
Councillor Julie Najuk 
Councillor Marje Paling 
Councillor John Parr 
Councillor Michael Payne 
Councillor Alex Scroggie 
Councillor Martin Smith 
Councillor Sam Smith 
Councillor Clive Towsey-Hinton 
Councillor John Truscott 
Councillor Henry Wheeler 
Councillor Paul Wilkinson 
 

 

Councillor Jennifer Hemingway 
Councillor Jenny Hollingsworth 
Councillor Mike Hope 
Councillor Rosa Keneally 
Councillor Ron McCrossen 
Councillor Viv McCrossen 
Councillor Barbara Miller 
Councillor Simon Murray 
Councillor Julie Najuk 
Councillor Marje Paling 
Councillor John Parr 
Councillor Michael Payne 
Councillor Alex Scroggie 
Councillor Martin Smith 
Councillor Sam Smith 
Councillor Clive Towsey-Hinton 
Councillor John Truscott 
Councillor Henry Wheeler 
Councillor Paul Wilkinson 

 

 

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be live streamed on the Council’s YouTube channel and via the Council's website 

(www.gedling.gov.uk). At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
recorded. 

 
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act. Data collected during 

this webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy. 
 

For more information about how your personal data is collected and used please view our privacy notice 
https://www.gedling.gov.uk/elections-privacy/  

 
 

http://www.gedling.gov.uk/
https://www.gedling.gov.uk/elections-privacy/


 

 

SUMMONS 
 
 
A meeting of the Borough Council will be held on Wednesday 17 November 2021 at 
6.00 pm to transact the business as set out below. 

 
Mike Hill 
Chief Executive 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

Page 

    

1   Thought for the day 
 

 

2   Apologies for Absence. 
 

 

3   Mayor's Announcements. 
 

 

4   To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 15 
September 2021 
 

5 - 17 

5   Declaration of Interests. 
 

 

6   To deal with any petitions received under Standing Order 8a. 
 

 

7   To answer questions asked by the public under Standing Order 8. 
 

 

8   To answer questions asked by Members of the Council under Standing 
Order 9. 
 

 

 Question from Councillor Martin Smith  
“We’re delighted that this Conservative Government has invested £210,426 of 
‘Welcome Back Fund’ into Gedling to improve our high streets and public 
spaces. Could the Finance Portfolio Holder update us on where this funding has 
been spent?” 
 
Question from Councillor Greensmith 
“Can the Environment Portfolio Holder confirm plans for road sweeping during 
autumn to prevent flooding?” 
 
Question from Councillor Adams 
“What progress has the Council made to reduce its £200,000+ annual spend on 
B&B temporary accommodation?” 
 
 

 



 
 

Question from Councillor Sam Smith 
“This Council has spent £70,500 over the last three months on agency staff for 
our environment departments. This is in addition to £45,000 approved between 
April and June. Yet bin collections are still being missed. What is being done to 
recruit more internal staff, reduce the agency costs to the taxpayers of Gedling 
and improve bin collection services?” 
 

9   Changes to Representation on Committees 
 

19 - 20 

 Report of the Democratic Services Manager. 
 

 

10   Appointment of co-opted Parish Representative to the Standards 
Committee 
 

21 - 23 

 Report of the Head of Governance and Customer Services. 
 

 

11   Review of the Code of Conduct for Members 
 

25 - 68 

 Report of the Head of Governance and Customer Services. 
 

 

12   Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 

69 - 81 

 Report of the Director of Corporate Resources. 
 

 

13   External Audit Procurement 
 

83 - 87 

 Report of the Director of Corporate Resources. 
 

 

14   To receive questions and comments from Members concerning any 
matter dealt with by the Executive or by a Committee or Sub-
Committee (Standing Order 11.1). 
 

 

 a   Minutes of meeting Monday 6 September 2021 of Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

89 - 93 

 b   Minutes of meeting Tuesday 7 September 2021 of Environment 
and Licensing Committee 
 

95 - 97 

 c   Minutes of meeting Wednesday 8 September 2021 of Planning 
Committee 
 

99 - 112 

 d   Minutes of meeting Thursday 9 September 2021 of Standards 
Committee 
 

113 - 115 



 
 

 e   Minutes of meeting Thursday 16 September 2021 of Cabinet 
 

117 - 118 

 f   Minutes of meeting Tuesday 21 September 2021 of Audit 
Committee 
 

119 - 121 

 g   Minutes of meeting Tuesday 5 October 2021 of Environment and 
Licensing Committee 
 

123 - 124 

 h   Minutes of meeting Wednesday 6 October 2021 of Appointments 
and Conditions of Service Committee 
 

125 - 126 

 i   Minutes of meeting Tuesday 5 October 2021 of Licensing Act 
Committee 
 

127 - 128 

 j   Minutes of meeting Thursday 7 October 2021 of Cabinet 
 

129 - 131 

 k   Minutes of meeting Wednesday 13 October 2021 of Planning 
Committee 
 

133 - 152 

 l   Minutes of meeting Tuesday 2 November 2021 of Environment 
and Licensing Committee 
 

153 - 154 

 m   Decisions made under delegated authority 
 

155 - 157 

15   To consider comments, of which due notice has been given, under 
Standing Order 11.03(a). 
 

 

16   To consider motions under Standing Order 12. 
 

 

 Motion One 
 
This Council is deeply concerned by the shocking levels of sewage discharged 
into our waterways, rivers and oceans locally and across the country. 
 
This Council expresses concern at figures published by the Rivers Trust, which 
highlight in 2020 alone there was at least 5,752 hours of sewage spills into 
waterways across Gedling parliamentary constituency by water companies and 
at least 4,279 hours of sewage spills into waterways across Sherwood 
parliamentary constituency. 
 
This Council firmly believes there should be a statutory duty on all water 
companies to take all reasonable steps to ensure untreated sewage is not 
discharged from storm overflows. In light of the harm caused to the 
environment, individual and public health, this Council wishes to see the 
practice of discharging raw sewage into our nation’s rivers, waterways and 
oceans eliminated entirely, not simply progressively reduced. 

 



 
 

 
This Council resolves to engage with agencies including Severn Trent Water, 
the Environment Agency, Nottinghamshire County Council and the UK 
Government to urge swift action to stop the disgraceful discharge of 
raw/untreated sewage in our waterways and rivers. 
 
This Council encourages and supports the use of its Overview & Scrutiny 
processes to assist in holding to account those agencies responsible for 
discharging raw and untreated sewage into our waterways and rivers locally. 
 
This Council calls on our local Members of Parliament, Tom Randall and Mark 
Spencer to publicly support our call for the banning and elimination of discharge 
of raw and untreated sewage into our waterways, rivers and oceans. 
 
This Council also calls on Gedling borough’s two Members of Parliament to 
campaign and vote for a statutory requirement on water companies to eliminate 
not simply progressively reduce the discharge of raw and untreated sewage into 
our waterways, rivers and oceans. 
 
Proposer: Councillor Boyle 
Seconder: Councillor Payne 
 
Motion Two 
 
This Council agrees with Sir John Armit, Chair of the UK’s National 
Infrastructure Commission, who recently commented that the Government 
should stop making councils ‘plead on bended knee’ for vital funds if ‘levelling 
up’ is to work. This Council concurs with Sir John Armit’s view that the system of 
bidding for multiple pots of ringfenced funding to Whitehall is ‘inefficient and 
ineffective’. 
 
This Council’s recent ‘Levelling Up Fund’ bid would help to kickstart high street 
regeneration, improve Arnold town centre and encourage healthy travel in 
Netherfield. It was a bid that could help to make Gedling borough an even better 
place to live, work and raise a family. 
 
This Council notes the Prime Minister’s response to our local Member of 
Parliament at Prime Minister’s Questions on 30 June 2021 that the ‘Levelling Up 
Fund’ would ‘indeed invest in infrastructure projects that improves life across the 
country but in his constituency (Gedling) particularly.’ 
 
This Council is therefore extremely disappointed not to have received a single 
penny from the UK Government’s ‘Levelling Up Fund’, which follows on from 
communities across Gedling borough not receiving a single penny from the UK 
Government from the Towns Fund and the Future High Streets Fund too. 
 
This Council was also disappointed to have been classified by the Government 
as a ‘category 2’ area for the purposes of the ‘Levelling Up Fund’, whilst other 
areas across the country that had already benefited from millions of pounds 
funding allocations from the Towns Fund and Future High Streets Fund were 



 
 

classified as ‘category 1’. 
 
This Council calls on our two local Members of Parliament, Tom Randall MP 
and Mark Spencer MP and the Government to demonstrate they back Gedling 
borough’s communities, town & village centres and businesses when it comes 
to ‘levelling up’ by ensuring Gedling borough urgently receives its fair share of 
capital investment for local infrastructure improvements and regeneration, 
particularly following the triple-whammy insult of being overlooked by the 
Government for the Towns Fund, Future High Streets Fund and Levelling Up 
Fund. 
 
This Council also calls on our Members of Parliament and the Government to 
ensure this year’s local government finance settlement rectifies the utterly 
unsatisfactory situation of Gedling Borough Council being the worst affected 
council in the country for two years running in terms of reduction in Core 
Spending Power since 2015/16. 
 
Proposer: Councillor Payne 
Seconder: Councillor Clarke 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES 
COUNCIL 

 
Wednesday 15 September 2021 

 
Councillor Meredith Lawrence (Mayor) 

 
Present: Councillor Sandra Barnes 

Councillor Michael Adams 
Councillor Peter Barnes 
Councillor Chris Barnfather 
Councillor Nicki Brooks 
Councillor John Clarke 
Councillor Liz Clunie 
Councillor Bob Collis 
Councillor Jim Creamer 
Councillor Boyd Elliott 
Councillor David Ellis 
Councillor Rachael Ellis 
Councillor Roxanne Ellis 
Councillor Andrew Ellwood 
Councillor Kathryn Fox 
Councillor Des Gibbons 
Councillor Helen Greensmith 
Councillor Gary Gregory 

Councillor Jenny Hollingsworth 
Councillor Mike Hope 
Councillor Rosa Keneally 
Councillor Ron McCrossen 
Councillor Viv McCrossen 
Councillor Barbara Miller 
Councillor Julie Najuk 
Councillor Marje Paling 
Councillor John Parr 
Councillor Michael Payne 
Councillor Alex Scroggie 
Councillor Martin Smith 
Councillor Sam Smith 
Councillor Clive Towsey-Hinton 
Councillor John Truscott 
Councillor Henry Wheeler 
Councillor Paul Wilkinson 

 

Absent: Councillor Pat Bosworth, Councillor Michael Boyle, 
Councillor Paul Feeney, Councillor Jennifer 
Hemingway and Councillor Simon Murray 

 
28    THOUGHT FOR THE DAY  

 
The Mayor’s Chaplain, Reverend Mick Johnson, delivered a thought for 
the day. 
 

29    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bosworth, Boyle, 
Feeney, Hemingway and Murray. 
 

30    MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.  
 
The Mayor informed Council of his attendance at a number of 
engagements, including the judging of a gardening competition at 
Netherfield and a prize giving event in Newstead, both of which were 
very enjoyable occasions and a credit to the locality co-ordinators who 
had organised the events.  
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

The Mayor had also attended the opening of the refurbished plane at St 
John’s School in Colwick, a fun day in aid of McMillan Cancer support 
and memorial services in respect of those who had lost their lives to 
Covid-19, which were held at Gedling Crematorium and at Coppice 
Lodge Care Home. 
 
 

31    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 14 JULY 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

32    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  
 
None. 
 

33    TO DEAL WITH ANY PETITIONS RECEIVED UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 8A.  
 
None received. 
 

34    TO ANSWER QUESTIONS ASKED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER 
STANDING ORDER 8.  
 
None received. 
 

35    TO ANSWER QUESTIONS ASKED BY MEMBERS OF THE 
COUNCIL UNDER STANDING ORDER 9.  
 
Question from Councillor Adams 
 
“Can the Council please advise on its commitment to tree planting 
across the Borough, during the remainder of this Council?” 
 
Response from Councillor Clarke, Leader of the Council 
 
“This administration is committed to planting trees, and  the Gedling Plan 
sets out our ambition to plant 500 UK native trees across the Borough 
each year to mark the lead up to the 50th Anniversary of the creation of 
Gedling Borough.  
 
In 2019/20 a total of 660 new trees were planted, and in 2020/21 a 
further 1,040 trees were planted.  These were in various sites including 
Arnot Hill Park, King George V, Burton Road Jubilee Park, Willow Park, 
Thackeray’s Lane, Arno Vale Recreation Ground, Carlton Hill Recreation 
Ground, and Gedling Country Park. 
 

Page 10



 

This year we have already created a Community Orchard at Gedling 
Country Park, and we have committed to: 

-  a 2-3 year ‘Green Lung’ project that will see further proposed tree 
planting at Digby Park [4 acres] along a green corridor footpath 
route to Arnold Lane and beyond 

- planting a Memorial Woodland in Gedling Country Park. [6 acres]” 
 
In response to a supplementary question about the lack of trees in the 
area between Front Street and Arnold Leisure Centre, Councillor Clarke 
advised that trees had been planted at Arnold Market and it was 
envisaged that there would be more around the new market once 
building works were completed. He added that if there were any 
suggestions for suitable sites these would be forwarded to officers. We 
have planted more trees near the Gedling Access Road as so many 
trees were removed for the construction.   
 
Question from Councillor Sam Smith 
 
“Can the council please confirm its commitment to becoming carbon net 
zero?” 
 
Response from Councillor Payne Deputy Leader 
 
“In November 2019, Gedling Borough Council (GBC) declared a climate 
emergency, alongside which a pledge to achieve net-zero carbon 
emissions by 2030 was made.  
 
To mitigate carbon emissions and improve the borough’s resilience to a 
changing climate, a new Carbon Management Strategy and Action Plan 
has been created, which is being presented to Cabinet tomorrow for 
approval to go to public consultation.  
 
This strategy outlines GBC’s commitment and ambition to show 
leadership in becoming carbon net zero.  
 
To further support this we are currently recruiting a Climate Change 
Officer who will take up post shortly and help deliver the action plan.  
 
We are under no assumption and realise that everyone is involved in this 
ambition, the Council, local businesses, the third sector and our 
residents, everyone has a part to play in this.” 
 
In response to a supplementary question on whether the forthcoming 
carbon strategy covered council operations or the Borough as a whole, 
Councillor Payne replied that in November 2019 Gedling Borough 
Council declared a climate emergency alongside which pledged to 
achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2030 was also made.  The plan 
recognises that this is not just down to Council, it is about local 
businesses, the third sector, our residents, community groups such as 
the fantastic Gedling Climate Group. 

Page 11



 

 
Question from Councillor Martin Smith 
 
“Can the council confirm its progress on moving its fleet to zero carbon 
vehicles?” 
 
Response from Councillor Payne, Deputy Leader 
 
“Fleet vehicle technology is moving forward rapidly.  As a Council we 
have adopted the eco-stars scheme for our fleet, which aims on using 
cleaner fuels and technologies by embedding green criteria in the fleet 
procurement process to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and air 
pollutants. It rates the performance of individual vehicles and a fleet’s 
overall operation using star ratings, and each member receives a 
tailored ‘road map’ to ensure their vehicles are running as efficiently and 
economically as possible. We scored the top rating of 5 stars when last 
assessed. 
 
We are currently trialling ultra and low emission vehicles such as electric 
(EVs) pavement sweepers, and hybrid vehicles as an alternative to 
diesel and petrol.  
 
When the time is right and funding is made available, we will look to 
convert our current vehicle fleet to electric or another green fuel type 
such as hydrogen. The Nottinghamshire Waste Partner Group has set 
up a ‘Fleet Procurement Internal Group’ to look at this issue and they are 
meeting at regional and local level to discuss Green Fleet procurement 
steps across the whole of Nottinghamshire to ensure we are prepared in 
time for the 2030 deadline.” 
 
In response to a supplementary question about whether the council 
intended to take steps to improve the green credentials of the vehicles it 
licenses Councillor Payne replied that it was essential to look at the 
private sector including working with our licensed vehicles through our 
licensing role. We all have to play our part in this because we as Gedling 
Borough Council are unable to achieve that commitment on our own. 
 
Question from Councillor Elliott 
 
“What determines the size of a bin a resident/household gets?” 
 
Response from Councillor Clarke, Leader of the Council 
 
“Gedling Borough Council has a legal duty under the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 to collect household waste. Section 46 of the Act 
relates to what local authorities can require in terms of receptacles for 
household waste including bin size and access to bins. Local Authorities 
are required to meet higher recycling and composting targets under UK 
laws and can be penalised if they fail to meet these targets. These 
changes are designed to increase the level of household recycling and 

Page 12



 

composting, thereby reducing the amount of waste incinerated or thrown 
into landfills.  
 
To support the achievement of these targets Gedling Borough Council 
are replacing the generic 240L that were previously provided to 
properties with bins that are size appropriate to each household. 
Households with up to three residents are entitled to a 180L size bin 
which equates to 60L per person, a capacity which has been calculated 
as adequate in accordance with research undertaken by industry 
organisations such as WRAP. [Waste and Resources Action Programme 
Charity] 
 
To achieve this we are gradually replacing bins with the appropriate 
sizes as and when bins need replacing, as rolling this out in one go is a 
resource and budget demand that cannot be managed whilst still 
delivering current service levels. Therefore when a resident requires a 
bin replacement due to damage for example they will receive a 
replacement bin that is relevant to their capacity needs. 
 
The number of residents residing in a given property determine the bin 
size: 
 
Households with 1 - 3 people get a 180ltr bin as standard.  
Households with 4 - 5 people get a 240ltr bin as standard. 
Households with 6 - 7 people get 2 x 180ltr bins as standard 
Households with 8 or more get 2 x 240ltr bins as standard. 
 
The residual bin requirement will change in line with family size, and 
residents are able to make requests for an extra or larger bin through 
both the website and our Customer Services team. 
 
Requests for additional recycling or glass bins can also be made via the 
website or customer services team.” 
 
Question from Councillor Helen Greensmith 
 
“Can the Portfolio Holder for Finance confirm what percentage of the 
whole UK Pet Cremation market the Cabinet expected to acquire in the 
first year when launching the service?” 
 
Response from the Deputy Leader, Michael Payne 
 
“Thank you for this question, which was previously answered at the 
Overview and Scrutiny committee. 
 
The Pet cremation service was never intended to operate as a 
UK ‘National Service’.  Instead it was aimed at the local Nottinghamshire 
market with an ambition to achieve 8.5% market share by engaging with 
local veterinary services, who euthanize pets on a daily basis. This 
equated to 34 pets per week, which is not an unrealistic figure 

Page 13



 

considering we were also targeting the border overlaps into Lincolnshire, 
Leicestershire and Derbyshire. 
 
This is also set in the context of published data that suggests 90% of 
pets nationally are cremated, and there are 9.0m dogs and 10.9m cats in 
the UK. 
  
The original market plan identified that there were 9 veterinary practices 
listed on the vet directory within Gedling, and around 40 in the wider 
Nottingham area, many with more than one branch.  
 
Research identified that approximately 50 pet cadavers were sent for 
cremation per week by veterinary services in the borough. One 
veterinary practice alone reported sending 25 – 30 cadavers for 
cremation per week across its Nottinghamshire branches.” 
 
Councillor Greensmith asked a supplementary question asking about 
how unrealistic forecasting could have been misleading for Members. 
Councillor Payne replied that he had not mislead the Council.  He added 
that he had already answered the question at the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee that the issue with setting up the pet cremation service was 
difficult, that it hadn’t been perfect from the outset, but that it was the 
right ambition of the council to try and intervene to prevent residents 
paying high costs for pet cremation services. 
 

36    CHANGES TO REPRESENTATION ON COMMITTEES AND 
OUTSIDE BODIES  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Democratic Services 
Manager, seeking approval to change committee memberships and 
outside body representation as set out in the report. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
To approve the following changes to representation on committees and 
outside bodies: 
 

1) Councillor Scroggie is replaced by Councillor Rachael Ellis on the 
Planning Committee; 
 

2) Councillor Truscott is replaced by Councillor Scroggie on the 
Environment and Licensing and Licensing Act Committees;  

 
3) Councillor Wilkinson is replaced by Councillor Rachael Ellis on 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and 
 

4) Councillor Payne is replaced by Councillor Rachael Ellis as one of 
the Council’s appointed representatives to the Warren Hill Action 
Group. 

 

Page 14



 

37    TO RECEIVE QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS FROM MEMBERS 
CONCERNING ANY MATTER DEALT WITH BY THE EXECUTIVE 
OR BY A COMMITTEE OR SUB-COMMITTEE (STANDING ORDER 
11.1).  
 
In accordance with Standing Order 11.1, a number of comments were 
made and responded to by the appropriate Cabinet Member or 
Committee Chair. 
 

38    TO CONSIDER COMMENTS, OF WHICH DUE NOTICE HAS BEEN 
GIVEN, UNDER STANDING ORDER 11.03(A).  
 
None received. 
 

39    TO CONSIDER MOTIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 12.  
 
Motion One 
 
Upon a notice of motion received in the name of Councillor Adams, a 
proposition was moved by Councillor Adams seconded by Councillor 
Sam Smith, in the following terms: 
 

This Council notes: 

 

The Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust has brought an important paper 
forward in their homes for people and wildlife document. This document 
creates the environment for a more harmonised living world for both 
people, animals and plants. In line with this document I wish to table the 
following motion:  
   
This council supports the adoption of a supplementary planning 
document in line with the “Homes for People and Wildlife” document as 
soon as is practicable. If approved, the supplementary planning 
document would be a material consideration in relation to the 
determination of planning applications. All future planning applicants 
would have this additional document made available to them with their 
application, and the points included from the applicant relevant to the 
supplementary planning document would need to be considered by the 
Council when determining the application.  
   
This policy would fill a large void in the councils existing decision making 
process with regards to the impact of development on wildlife. It would 
help councillors, residents and applicants better understand the 
environmental credentials of new build developments and help them 
make their decisions in line with our challenges around habitat loss and 
bio diversity decline.  
  
Some of the measures which could be considered for inclusion in the 
supplementary planning document and proposed in the Homes for 
People and Wildlife document include: 

Page 15



 

 

 Permeable driveways to help reduce flood risk  

 Trees, hedgerows, water and other habitats integrated with 
development  

 Wildflower verges along roads and formal open spaces  

 Lighting designed to avoid disturbing wildlife  

 Sustainable urban drainage, swales and raingardens for wildlife 
and flood relief.  

 Bat roosts, bird boxes and other wildlife features designed into 
buildings  

 Renewable energy and water efficiency built in from the outset  

 Safe, attractive, connected pedestrian and cycle routes  

 Features and corridors to help invertebrates, reptiles, hedgehogs 
and other mammals  

 Wildlife-friendly green roofs and walls  

 Native, wildlife-friendly plants of local origin used in gardens and 
landscaping  

 Wildlife-permeable boundaries between gardens and open space  

 Allotments and community orchards for local food  

 Street trees for wildlife, shade and improved air quality  

 Interpretation panels to help people understand the needs of 
wildlife and the environment.  

   
I would encourage all members to support this urgent motion to protect 
our bio diversity and enhance the quality of our buildings across the 
Borough. 
 

An amendment was moved by Councillor Payne and seconded by 

Councillor Hollingsworth in the following terms: 

 

Building with wildlife in mind 
  
Thise Council welcomes The Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust’s has 
brought an important paper vision put forward in their ‘Hhomes for 
Ppeople and Wwildlife’ document. This document seeks to creates the 
environment for a more harmonised living world for both people, animals 
and plants. In line with this document I wish to table the following motion: 
 
  
This cCouncil supportscommits to formally consulting Nottinghamshire 
Wildlife Trust on all major residential the adoption of a supplementary 
planning applications, document in line with to ensure the Wildlife Trust’s 
‘Homes for People and Wildlife’ vision is considered as an integral part 
of each major residential planning application (above ten 
dwellings)document as soon as is practicable. If approved, the 
supplementary planning document would be a material consideration in 
relation to the determination of planning applications. All future major 
residential planning applicationsnts would have this additional formal 
consultation document made available to them with their application, and 

Page 16



 

the points included from the applicant relevant to the supplementary 
planning document would need to be considered by to assist the 
Council’s Planning Committee when determining suchthe applications. 
  
This commitment to formally consulting Nottinghamshire Wildlife 
Trustpolicy would fill a large void in further add to the Ccouncil’s existing 
decision making process with regards to the impact of residential 
development on wildlife. It would help councillors, residents and 
applicants better understand the environmental credentials of new build 
developments and help them make their decisions in line with our 
challenges around habitat loss and bio-diversity decline. 
  
This Council notes the features of development (listed below) Some of 
the measures which could be considered for inclusion in the 
supplementary planning document and proposed included in Tthe 
Wildlife Trust’s ‘Homes for People and Wildlife’ document are already 
contained in the Council’s Local Planning Document and the Aligned 
Core Strategy, as well as the Council’s recently adopted Low Carbon 
Planning Guidance for Gedling Borough and the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPFF), all of which are material considerations for 
the Planning Committee when determining all planning 
applications.include: 
  

 Permeable driveways to help reduce flood risk 

 Trees, hedgerows, water and other habitats integrated with 
development 

 Wildflower verges along roads and formal open spaces 

 Lighting designed to avoid disturbing wildlife 

 Sustainable urban drainage, swales and raingardens for wildlife and 
flood relief. 

 Bat roosts, bird boxes and other wildlife features designed into 
buildings 

 Renewable energy and water efficiency built in from the outset 

 Safe, attractive, connected pedestrian and cycle routes 

 Features and corridors to help invertebrates, reptiles, hedgehogs and 
other mammals 

 Wildlife-friendly green roofs and walls 

 Native, wildlife-friendly plants of local origin used in gardens and 
landscaping 

 Wildlife-permeable boundaries between gardens and open space 

 Allotments and community orchards for local food 

 Street trees for wildlife, shade and improved air quality 

 Interpretation panels to help people understand the needs of wildlife 
and the environment. 

 
This Council notes the Wildlife Trust is opposed to the Government’s 
proposed changes to the planning system set out in the Planning for the 
Future White Paper, which they consider will harm efforts to protect 

Page 17



 

wildlife. Nature does not fit neatly into the Government’s three proposed 
planning zones. 
 
This Council shares the Wildlife Trust’s concerns that the Government’s 
proposed ‘developers’ charter’ planning reforms risk creating ‘a 
disconnected landscape, one in which wildlife continues to decline 
because nature doesn’t slot into neat little boxes.’ 
 
This Council agrees with one of the Wildlife Trust’s ‘key concerns’ 
regarding the Government’s proposed planning reforms – namely that 
they risk ‘undermining the democratic process by reducing people’s 
opportunity to influence the planning process’, which would undermine 
attempts to create the more harmonious world for people and wildlife to 
which we aspire. 
 
This Council therefore resolves to write to the Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government and the borough’s two 
local Members of Parliament setting out our shared concerns with the 
Wildlife Trust about the negative impact on wildlife arising from 
proposals in the Government’s Planning for the Future White Paper. 
  
I would encourage all members to support this urgent motion to protect 
our bio diversity and enhance the quality of our buildings across the 
Borough. 
 
The Mayor, seconded by Councillor Sam Smith, proposed a motion to 

briefly adjourn the meeting to allow Members to consider the 

amendment put before them. The motion was supported and the Mayor 

declared it carried.  

 

The meeting adjourned at 6.51 pm.  

 

The meeting resumed at 7.01 pm. 

 

Councillors Adams, Barnfather, Elliott, Greensmith, Parr, Sam Smith and 

Martin Smith re-joined the meeting at 7:03pm. 

 

Following debate, the amendment was put to a vote and the Mayor 

declared that the amendment was carried so the amendment became 

the substantive motion. 

 

In accordance with Standing Order 17.03, the proposition as amended 

was put to a named vote as follows: 

 

For the Substantive Motion with the amendment 
Councillor P Barnes Councillor Hope 
Councillor S Barnes Councillor Keneally 

Page 18



 

Councillor Brooks Councillor Lawrence 
Councillor Clarke Councillor Ron McCrossen 
Councillor Clunie Councillor Viv McCrossen 
Councillor Collis Councillor Miller 
Councillor Creamer Councillor Najuk 
Councillor David Ellis Councillor Paling 
Councillor Rachael Ellis Councillor Payne 
Councillor Roxanne Ellis Councillor Scroggie 
Councillor Ellwood Councillor Towsey-Hinton 
Councillor Fox Councillor Truscott 
Councillor Gibbons Councillor Wheeler 
Councillor Gregory Councillor Wilkinson 
Councillor Hollingsworth  
  
Against the Substantive Motion with the amendment 
None  
  
Abstentions:  
Councillor Adams Councillor Parr 
Councillor Barnfather Councillor Martin Smith 
Councillor Elliott Councillor Sam Smith 
Councillor Greensmith  
  
It was therefore 

 

RESOLVED that: 

 

This Council welcomes The Wildlife Trust’s vision put forward in their 
‘Homes for People and Wildlife’ document. This document seeks to 
create the environment for a more harmonised living world for both 
people, animals and plants. 
  
This Council commits to formally consulting Nottinghamshire Wildlife 
Trust on all major residential planning applications, to ensure the Wildlife 
Trust’s ‘Homes for People and Wildlife’ vision is considered as an 
integral part of each major residential planning application (above ten 
dwellings). All future major residential planning applications would have 
this additional formal consultation to assist the Council’s Planning 
Committee when determining such applications. 
  
This commitment to formally consulting Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust 
would further add to the Council’s existing decision making process with 
regards to the impact of residential development on wildlife. It would help 
councillors, residents and applicants better understand the 
environmental credentials of new build developments and help them 
make their decisions in line with our challenges around habitat loss and 
bio-diversity decline. 
  

Page 19



 

This Council notes the features of development (listed below) included in 
The Wildlife Trust’s ‘Homes for People and Wildlife’ document are 
already contained in the Council’s Local Planning Document and the 
Aligned Core Strategy, as well as the Council’s recently adopted Low 
Carbon Planning Guidance for Gedling Borough and the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPFF), all of which are material 
considerations for the Planning Committee when determining all 
planning applications. 
  

 Permeable driveways to help reduce flood risk 

 Trees, hedgerows, water and other habitats integrated with 
development 

 Wildflower verges along roads and formal open spaces 

 Lighting designed to avoid disturbing wildlife 

 Sustainable urban drainage, swales and raingardens for wildlife and 
flood relief. 

 Bat roosts, bird boxes and other wildlife features designed into 
buildings 

 Renewable energy and water efficiency built in from the outset 

 Safe, attractive, connected pedestrian and cycle routes 

 Features and corridors to help invertebrates, reptiles, hedgehogs and 
other mammals 

 Wildlife-friendly green roofs and walls 

 Native, wildlife-friendly plants of local origin used in gardens and 
landscaping 

 Wildlife-permeable boundaries between gardens and open space 

 Allotments and community orchards for local food 

 Street trees for wildlife, shade and improved air quality 

 Interpretation panels to help people understand the needs of wildlife 
and the environment. 

 
This Council notes the Wildlife Trust is opposed to the Government’s 
proposed changes to the planning system set out in the Planning for the 
Future White Paper, which they consider will harm efforts to protect 
wildlife. Nature does not fit neatly into the Government’s three proposed 
planning zones. 
 
This Council shares the Wildlife Trust’s concerns that the Government’s 
proposed ‘developers’ charter’ planning reforms risk creating ‘a 
disconnected landscape, one in which wildlife continues to decline 
because nature doesn’t slot into neat little boxes.’ 
 
This Council agrees with one of the Wildlife Trust’s ‘key concerns’ 
regarding the Government’s proposed planning reforms – namely that 
they risk ‘undermining the democratic process by reducing people’s 
opportunity to influence the planning process’, which would undermine 
attempts to create the more harmonious world for people and wildlife to 
which we aspire. 
 

Page 20



 

This Council therefore resolves to write to the Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government and the borough’s two 
local Members of Parliament setting out our shared concerns with the 
Wildlife Trust about the negative impact on wildlife arising from 
proposals in the Government’s Planning for the Future White Paper. 
 

Councillors Clarke, Hollingsworth and Payne left the meeting. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 7.43 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report to Council 
 
Subject: Changes to Representation on Committees 

Date: 17 November 2021 

Author: Democratic Services Manager 

Purpose 

Following a request from the Labour Group Business Manager, this report seeks 
approval of changes to the memberships of the Planning, Environment and 
Licensing and Licensing Act Committees 

Recommendation(s) 

To approve the following changes to representation on committees and 
outside bodies: 

a) Councillor Miller is replaced by Councillor Najuk on the 
Planning Committee; and 

b) Councillor Roxanne Ellis is replaced by Councillor Rachael 
Ellis on the Environment and Licensing and Licensing Act 
Committees. 

 

1 Background 

1.1 At the Annual Meeting of Council, seats and representatives to all of the 
Council’s Committees and sub-committees must be approved in 
accordance with the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990 and 1991 made under sections 15 and 16 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. 

1.2 At the request of a Group Business Manager or Group Leader, in year 
changes to Committee memberships can be approved by the Full Council. 

2 Proposal 

2.1 Following a request from the Labour Group, it is proposed that Councillor 
Miller is replaced by Councillor Najuk on the Planning Committee and 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



Councillor Roxanne Ellis is replaced by Councillor Rachael Ellis on the 
Environment and Licensing and Licensing Act Committees. 

3 Alternative Options 

3.1 Council may decide not to approve the recommendations as proposed in 
which case the memberships would remain as they are now. 

4 Financial Implications 

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

5 Legal Implications 

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

6 Equalities Implications 

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 

7 Carbon Reduction/Environmental Sustainability Implications 

7.1 There are no environmental sustainability implications arising from this 
report. 

8 Appendices 

8.1 None 

9 Background Papers 

9.1 None identified 

 
 

Page 24



 

 
 

Report to Council 
 
Subject:   
 

Appointment of co-opted Parish Representative to the Standards 
Committee 
 

Date:  19 November 2021 

Author:  Head of Governance and Customer Services 

Purpose 

 To seek approval to co-opt Martyn Thorpe, Councillor for St Albans Parish 
Council on to the Standards Committee, to fill the vacant post of co-opted 
Parish representative. 
 

Recommendation 
 
     That Members: 
 

1) Agree that Martyn Thorpe, Councillor of St Albans Parish Council be co-
opted on to the Standards Committee to fill the vacant post of co-opted 
Parish representative until the annual meeting in 2022. 
 

  

1 Background 

1.1 Members will recall that the Standards Committee is not politically balanced 
and is comprised of 2 co-opted, non-voting Members (1 Independent and 1 
Parish representative) in addition to elected Members. The position of co-
opted Parish representative has been vacant since May 2021. At the 
Standards Committee meeting of 10 June 2021 it was agreed that a 
recruitment process be undertaken to co-opt a new Parish representative on 
to the Committee.  
 

1.2 Following application and interview by an interview panel consisting of 
members of the Standards Committee, the Standards Committee 
recommends to Council that Martyn Thorpe, Councillor of St Albans Parish 
Council should be co-opted on to the Standards Committee to fill the vacant 
post of co-opted Parish representative. In view of the fact that this is a new 
appointment, the Committee also recommends that Mr Thorpe is co-opted 

Page 25

Agenda Item 10



 

until the annual meeting in 2022. The interview panel will carry out a review 
and recommend whether the co-option should continue.  
 

2 Proposal 

2.1 It is proposed that Council agree that Martyn Thorpe, Councillor for St 
Albans Parish Council be co-opted on to the Standards Committee to fill the 
vacant post of co-opted parish representative until the next annual meeting. 
 

3 Alternative Options 

3.1 Council could determine not to co-opt this candidate, however there was a 
fair and open recruitment process and the panel determined that Martyn 
Thorpe was a suitable candidate for appointment after reviewing his 
application and undertaking an interview. The Standards Committee also 
supports this co-option.   

4 Financial Implications 

4.1 On appointment, the co-opted member will be entitled to receive the co-
opted members’ allowance agreed as part of the Members’ Allowances 
Scheme, which is currently set at £500 per annum. This will be met from 
existing budgets. 
 

5 Legal Implications 

5.1 The decision to co-opt a Member must be taken by Council. 

6 Equalities Implications 

6.1 There are no equalities implications directly arising from this report.  

7 Carbon Reduction/Environmental Sustainability Implications 

7.1 There are no carbon reduction/environmental sustainability implications 
arising from this report. 

8 Appendices 

8.1 None 

9 Background papers 

9.1 None identified. 

 

Statutory Officer approval 
 

Page 26



 

Approved by the Chief Financial Officer 
Date:  1 November 2021 
 
Drafted by the Monitoring Officer  
  
 

 
 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report to Council 
 
Subject: Review of the Code of Conduct for Members 

Date: 17 November 2021 

Author: Head of Governance and Customer Services 

 

Purpose 

To update Members on the review of the Council‘s Code of Conduct and to 
obtain agreement from Members that the Council’s current Code of Conduct for 
Councillors remains unchanged. 

Recommendation(s) 

THAT: 

1) Members note the work undertaken by the Standards Committee and 
Working Group in reviewing the Council’s Code of Conduct. 

2) Members agree that no changes are made to the Gedling Borough 
Council Code of Conduct. 

 

1 Background 

1.1 Members will recall that the Committee for Standards in Public Life 
(“CSPL”) - Review of Ethical Standards in Public Life Report made a 
number of best practice recommendations in relation to Codes of Conduct 
for Councillors. One recommendation was that authorities should review 
their Code of Conduct annually, and in doing so should seek the views of 
the public and stakeholders where possible. A further recommendation 
was that the Local Government Association (LGA) should create an 
updated model Code of Conduct for Members in consultation with 
representative bodies of councillors and officers of all tiers of local 
government.  

1.2 A model Code of Conduct was subsequently drafted by the LGA and a 
period of consultation on the draft ran from 8 June to 17 August 2020. A 

Page 29

Agenda Item 11



response to the consultation was submitted by the Council in particular 
highlighting the need for more detailed guidance to accompany the Code 
given its potential for wide interpretation, and given its brevity in particular 
compared to this Council’s current Code of Conduct.   

1.3 In December 2020, the LGA publicised its final version of the LGA Model 
Code of Conduct for Councillors (“the Model Code”), a copy of which is 
shown at Appendix 1. The LGA state that the Model Code is offered as a 
template for councils to adopt in whole and/or with local amendments. The 
LGA have indicated they will review the Model Code annually to ensure it 
continues to remain fit for purpose. The LGA also indicated that whilst the 
Model Code does include guidance, further guidance would be published 
to accompany the Code following some of the questions raised through 
the consultation process. Additional guidance on the Model Code was 
recently published and the link provided below.  

1.4 The Model Code, has changed slightly from the version that was consulted 
upon in the summer of 2020. Most significantly, the requirement of “civility” 
which was in the original draft has now been replaced with “respect” and 
guidance is included within the Model Code, although further guidance has 
been provided since the original publication. There is currently no statutory 
requirement to adopt the Model Code. Whilst the CSPL report indicated 
their “would” be a model Code, it is unclear whether the intention was that 
this would be a statutory code which would require adoption through 
amendment to the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”). The Act provides that 
each “relevant authority” must adopt a Code dealing with conduct that is 
expected of members & co-opted members when they act in that capacity 
(s27(2) Localism Act 2011). Each Code must contain “appropriate 
provisions” for the registration and disclosure of disclosable pecuniary 
interests and ‘other’ interests. A Code must, when viewed as a whole, be 
consistent with the 7 Principles of Public Life. Whilst the Model Code does 
satisfy those statutory requirements, it is always going to be a challenge to 
find a model that suits all, arguably only through mandatory adoption is 
there likely to be unity by authorities in relation to a Code of Conduct. That 
said, in order to ensure some parity in standards investigations nationally, 
a single Code should provide some consistency. 
 

1.5 Lawyers in Local Government undertook a survey of Monitoring Officers 
earlier in the year to gauge how many had chosen to adopt the Model 
Code following its publication in December. A total of 82 responses were 
received from Monitoring Officers or Deputy Monitoring Officers. Of those 
who responded: 

 20% indicated they would be adopting the model Code in full.  

 20% indicated they would be adopting part of the Code.  

Page 30



 55% indicated they would not be adopting the Code. 

 25% will not be adopting the model Code or changing their 
own Code. 

  30% not adopting the model Code in whole or part but 
looking to make changes to their own Code.  

5% indicated they were undecided at this time. 
 

1.6 Standards Committee have considered the Model Code and the 
Committee agreed on 11 March 2021 to establish a Working Group who, 
in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, would consider the Model Code 
and compare it to the Council’s existing Code of Conduct (“Gedling 
Code”), with a view to bringing forward recommendations as to whether 
the Model Code should be adopted by the Council in full, or in part, or 
whether the Gedling Code should be amended. As indicated, Best Practice 
recommendations from the Committee for Standards in Public Life (CSPL), 
which have been agreed by the Council, propose that Council’s should 
review their Code of Conduct for Councillors every year. The 
recommendations also state, that where possible, the views of the public, 
community groups and neighbouring authorities should be sought on 
review. The Gedling Code was reviewed and amended in July 2019 to 
include recommendations from the CSPL report. A review was not 
undertaken in 2020 due to Covid-19 and pending the publication of the 
Model Code. As part of consideration of the Model Code, the Working 
Group undertook a review of the Gedling Code to consider whether any 
changes might be required. 
 

1.7 The Working Group met on 1st June 2021 to review the Gedling Code in 
light of the Model Code and the requirement to review. The findings and 
recommendations from that meeting are attached at Appendix 2 to this 
report. The group compared and contrasted the two Codes and considered 
in detail the pros and cons of each Code and whether there were any 
opportunities to amalgamate the Codes or whether a move entirely to the 
Model Code might be appropriate. In summary, the group agreed that the 
Gedling Code was the preferred Code in terms of its content, layout and 
clarity. The group felt that the guidance contained within the Model Code 
was helpful, but to include this within a Code document made the 
document lengthy and may dilute the clear message of the Code. The 
group recommended that a separate guidance document be considered by 
Committee, such a document would not form part of the Gedling Code but 
would be a guidance document for Members and the public. Whilst the 
Working Group made recommendation that the Gedling Code remain 
unchanged, in line with CPSL Best Practice, the wider views of the 
community on this were sought, as on 10 June 2021, the Standards 
Committee agreed a period of public consultation on the Gedling Code. 

Page 31



1.8 The consultation was run through the Council’s website and Councillor 
Contacts. The link to the consultation was also sent to all Parish Councils 
and Nottinghamshire Monitoring Officers. The consultation asked whether 
the Gedling Code was fit for purpose and asked for any suggested 
changes or improvements to the Code. The consultation also asked 
whether a guidance document to accompany the Council’s Code would be 
helpful. The consultation received only 3 responses. All responses came 
from elected members at district level. Two consultees agreed the Gedling 
Code was fit for purpose with one stating they weren’t sure. No consultees 
suggested amendments to the Gedling Code and all agreed that a 
guidance document to support the Council’s Code would be helpful. 
 

1.9 The outcome of the consultation was reported to Standards Committee in 
September. Having considered the findings of the Working Group and the 
consultation responses, the Committee determined to recommend to 
Council that the Gedling Code remain unchanged. The Committee also 
determined that guidance on the Gedling Code should be prepared by the 
Monitoring Officer and provided to a future Standards Committee meeting 
for approval. The Gedling Code is shown at Appendix 3. 
 

2 Proposal 

2.1 It is proposed that Members note the work done by the Working Group and 
the Standards Committee in reviewing the Council’s Code of Conduct and 
considering the Model Code.  

2.2 It is proposed that Members agree that the Council’s current Code of 
Conduct for Members, remain unchanged, in line with the recommendation 
of the Standards Committee. Certainly, in comparing the two Codes, the 
Gedling Code covers all the areas in the Model Code but is also 
considered to provide additional useful requirements and is clear in its 
presentation.  

3 Alternative Options 

3.1 Members could determine not to follow the recommendation of Standards 
Committee and may consider the adoption of the Model Code in its 
entirety, or in part, or may consider amendments to the Gedling Code of 
Conduct should be made. The review of the Code by the Standards 
Committee and Working Group has been thorough and it is considered by 
Committee that the current Gedling Code is fit for purpose. 

4 Financial Implications 

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising out of this report. 

 

Page 32



5 Legal Implications 

5.1 The Localism Act 2011 requires authorities to have a Code of Conduct for 
Members, however, authorities are not required by law to adopt the LGA 
Model Code at this time. CSPL guidance does however provide that an 
annual review of the Code of Conduct should be undertaken, the review 
and consultation undertaken is in compliance with best practice. The 
Localism Act provides that the adoption, replacement or revision of a Code 
must be undertaken by Council. Whilst no revision of the current Code is 
being proposed, it is considered appropriate that Council are made aware 
of the work undertaken to review the Code, and that agreement is sought 
that no changes be made to the Council’s current Code of Conduct. 

6 Equalities Implications 

6.1 There are no direct equality implications arising from this report.  

7 Carbon Reduction/Environmental Sustainability Implications 

7.1 There are no carbon reduction/sustainability implications arising from this 
report. 

8 Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1 - LGA Model Code of Conduct for Councillors 

Appendix 2 – Report and Recommendations from the Working Group 

Appendix 3 – Gedling Borough Council Code of Conduct  

9 Background Papers 

9.1 https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-
association-model-councillor-code-conduct 

 

Statutory Officer approval 
 
Approved by:  
Date: 8 November 2021 
On behalf of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
Drafted by the Monitoring Officer  
 

 
 
 

Page 33

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct


This page is intentionally left blank



23.12.2020                                                            Page 1 of 17 
 

 

 
Local Government Association 

Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020 
 
 

 

Joint statement 

The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s 

system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held accountable and all 

adopt the behaviors and responsibilities associated with the role. Our conduct as an 

individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. We want the role of councillor to 

be one that people aspire to. We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and 

circumstances to be putting themselves forward to become councillors. 

As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and deliver 

local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to represent our local 

area; taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have both an individual and 

collective responsibility to meet these expectations by maintaining high standards and 

demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging behaviour which falls below expectations. 

Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being 

intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general public. 

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct and 

safeguard the public’s trust in local government. 

Page 35



23.12.2020                                                            Page 2 of 17 
 

Introduction 

The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code of 

Conduct, in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the sector, 

as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to aspire to high 

standards of leadership and performance. It is a template for councils to adopt in whole 

and/or with local amendments. 

All councils are required to have a local Councillor Code of Conduct. 

The LGA will undertake an annual review of this Code to ensure it continues to be fit- for-

purpose, incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in legislation. The 

LGA can also offer support, training and mediation to councils and councillors on the 

application of the Code and the National Association of Local Councils (NALC) and the 

county associations of local councils can offer advice and support to town and parish 

councils. 

 

 
Definitions 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted 

member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” is defined in 

the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of the authority but 

who 

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 

b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint sub-

committee of the authority; 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that 

committee or sub-committee”. 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, district 

councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and rescue 

authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined 

authorities and National Park authorities. 

 

 
Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling the 

behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set out 

the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is also to protect 

you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and the reputation of local 

government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of all councillors and your 

specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The LGA encourages the use of 

support, training and mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The 

fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of 

councillor and local government. 

Page 36



23.12.2020                                                            Page 3 of 17 
 

 

General principles of councillor conduct 

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services, 

including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; should uphold 

the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles. 

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed 

specifically for the role of councillor. 

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

• I act with integrity and honesty 

• I act lawfully 

• I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

• I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of 

councillor. 

In undertaking my role: 

• I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community 

• I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 

person 

• I avoid conflicts of interest 

• I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

• I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local 

authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 

 

Application of the Code of Conduct 

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance of 

the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted member and continues to 

apply to you until you cease to be a councillor. 

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a councillor 
which may  include when: 

• you misuse your position  as a councillor  

• Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public  with 

knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor;  

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


23.12.2020                                                            Page 4 of 17 
 

• at face-to-face meetings 

• at online or telephone meetings 

• in written communication 

• in verbal communication 

• in non-verbal communication 

• in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and 

comments. 

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all times 

when acting as a councillor. 

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code of 

Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on any 

matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish councillors are 

encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to the Monitoring 

Officer. 

 

 
Standards of councillor conduct 

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct required 

of you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a complaint may 

be made against you, which may result in action being taken. 

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should be 

followed. 

General Conduct 

1. Respect 

As a councillor: 

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect. 

 

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner 

organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with respect and 

respect the role they play. 

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. 

Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a councillor, you 

can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a 

robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or 

organisations to personal attack. 

Page 38



23.12.2020                                                            Page 5 of 17 
 

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude and 

offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in councillors. 

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of the 

public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any 

conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, the 

relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow councillors, where 

action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, and local authority 

employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s councillor-

officer protocol. 

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination 

As a councillor: 

2.1 I do not bully any person. 

 

2.2 I do not harass any person. 

 

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any 

person. 

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 

offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 

through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying might be 

a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in 

emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always 

be obvious or noticed by others. 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes 

alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least 

two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications and 

contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any 

reasonable person. 

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's 

identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 

sexual orientation. 

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a central 

role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's performance 

and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality 

across public services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



23.12.2020                                                            Page 6 of 17 
 

3. Impartiality of officers of the council 

As a councillor: 

 

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of 

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority. 

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they 

are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would 

undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, for example, 

their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they 

have written. However, you must not try and force them to act differently, change their 

advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional 

integrity. 

4. Confidentiality and access to information 

As a councillor: 

4.1 I do not disclose information: 

a. given to me in confidence by anyone 

b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be 

aware, is of a confidential nature, unless 

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

ii. I am required by law to do so; 

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third 

party agrees not to disclose the information to any other 

person; or 

iv. the disclosure is: 

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and 

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the local authority; and 

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its 

release. 

 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a 

councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, 

my employer or my business interests. 

 

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by 

law. 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and printed 

materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined circumstances. You should 

work on this basis, but there will be times when it is required by law that discussions, 

documents and other information relating to or held by the local authority must be treated in 

a confidential manner. Examples include personal data relating to individuals or information 

relating to ongoing negotiations. 

 

 

Page 40



23.12.2020                                                            Page 7 of 17 
 

5. Disrepute 

As a councillor: 

 

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 

As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and your 

actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the 

public. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, other 

councillors and/or your local authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your or your 

local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s functions. For example, behaviour that is 

considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute. 

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able to 

constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by 

the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct. 

6. Use of position 

As a councillor: 

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or 

disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain opportunities, 

responsibilities and privileges, and you make choices all the time that will impact others. 

However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own or 

others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities 

As a councillor: 

7.1 I do not misuse council resources. 

 

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their use by 

others: 

a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 

b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless 

that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be 

conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of 

the office to which I have been elected or appointed. 

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you in 

carrying out your duties as a councillor. 

Examples include: 

• office support 

• stationery 

• equipment such as phones, and computers 

• transport 

• access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 

Page 41



23.12.2020                                                            Page 8 of 17 
 

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively and 

are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in accordance with 

the purpose for which they have been provided and the local authority’s own policies 

regarding their use. 

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct 

As a Councillor: 

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority. 

 

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or 

determination. 

 

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be 

involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings. 

 

8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have 

breached the Code of Conduct. 

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you to 

have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the local 

authority or its governance.  If you do not understand or are concerned about the local 

authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your Monitoring 

Officer. 

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority 

9. Interests 

As a councillor: 

9.1 I register and disclose my interests. 

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and 

maintain a register of interests of members of the authority . 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow 

councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register 

is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register 

also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held 

accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should 

disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think 

that a potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know about any 

interest that might have to be disclosed by you or other councillors when making or taking 

part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest. This 

helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set 

out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If in 

doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

Page 42



23.12.2020                                                            Page 9 of 17 
 

10. Gifts and hospitality 

As a councillor: 

10.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which 

could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable 

suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking to 

acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from persons 

who may apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or other 

significant advantage. 

 

10.2 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt. 

 

10.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or 

hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to accept. 

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 

exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you reasonably 

believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The presumption should always 

be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, there may be times when such a 

refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in which case you could accept it but must 

ensure it is publicly registered. However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality 

which are not related to your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends 

and family. It is also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and 

hospitality associated with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your 

Monitoring Officer for guidance. 

Page 43



23.12.2020                                                            Page 10 of 17 
 

Appendices 

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

The principles are: 

Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 

organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not 

act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, 

their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships. 

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using 

the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and 

must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. 

Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful 

reasons for so doing. 

Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should 

actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor 

behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Page 44



23.12.2020                                                            Page 11 of 17 
 

Appendix B Registering 

interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must 
register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in 
Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register  
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 
(Other Registerable Interests). 

 

 “Disclosable pecuniary interest” means  an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are 
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband 
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered 

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence 

or intimidation. 

 

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with 

the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer 

agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not 

participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not 

have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. 

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate 

and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

 

5. Where  you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is 
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  your executive function, 
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or 
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it 

 

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other 

Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You 

may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at 

the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter 

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it 

Page 45



23.12.2020                                                            Page 12 of 17 
 

is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 

Disclosure of  Non- R e g i s t e r a b l e  Interests 
 

 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest 

or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in Table 1) or a 

financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the 

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed 

to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote 

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of 

the interest. 

 

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under  

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest  the following test should be applied 

 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 

speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on 

the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

dispensation. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have 
made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure  that any 
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



23.12.2020                                                            Page 13 of 17 
 

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 

Page 47

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


23.12.2020                                                            Page 14 of 17 
 

 

 councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an incorporated 
body of which such person is a director* or 
a body that such person has a beneficial 
interest in the securities of*) and the council 
— 

(a) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and 

(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ 
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 

(a) the landlord is the council; and 

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as 
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a 
partner of or a director* of or has a 
beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 

(a) that body (to the councillor’s 
knowledge) has a place of business or 
land in the area of the council; and 

(b) either— 

(i) ) the total nominal value of the 
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in 
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 

Page 48



23.12.2020                                                            Page 15 of 17 
 

 

 
 

 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 

provident society. 

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 

collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 

2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building 

society. 

Table 2: Other Registerable Interests 

 

 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is 
likely to affect:  
 

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you 
are nominated or appointed by your authority 
 

b) any body 

(i) exercising functions of a public nature 

(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 
or policy (including any political party or trade union) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 

Page 49



23.12.2020                                                            Page 16 of 17 
 

Appendix C – the Committee on Standards in Public Life 

The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider the 

recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their report on 

Local Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to implement any of the 

recommendations, this could require a change to this Code. 

The recommendations cover: 

• Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when the 

Code of Conduct applies 

• The introduction of sanctions 

• An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman 

• Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012 

• Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code 

• Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person 

• That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests should be abolished 

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice 

recommendations. These are: 

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and harassment in 

codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment, 

supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition. 

Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring 

councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting trivial or 

malicious allegations by councillors. 

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year and 

regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations and 

neighbouring authorities. 

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors and 

the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council premises. 

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at least 

once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV. 

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest test 

against which allegations are filtered. 

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent 

Persons. 

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake a 

formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to 

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report


23.12.2020                                                            Page 17 of 17 
 

review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss 

as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial. 

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct 

following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible 

on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by 

the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker, 

and any sanction applied. 

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance 

on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for 

handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes. 

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish councillor 

towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather than the clerk in 

all but exceptional circumstances. 

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and 

management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils 

within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training, 

corporate support and resources to undertake this work. 

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any 

conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps should 

include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the 

investigation. 

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which 

they own as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture of their 

relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide by 

the Nolan principle of openness and publish their board agendas and minutes and annual 

reports in an accessible place. 

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or group 

whips to discuss standards issues. 

 

 
The LGA has committed to reviewing the Code on an annual basis to ensure it is still 

fit for purpose. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

GEDLING BOROUGH COUNCIL CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW 
WORKING GROUP MEETING 1ST JUNE 2021 

 
In attendance: 
 
Councillor Boyle, Councillor Murray, Rosalie Hawkes, Francesca Whyley 
 
Apologies from John Baggaley 
 
Members considered a comparison between the Local Government Association 
Model Code of Conduct and Gedling Borough Council’s Code of Conduct, the details 
of which are summarised in the table below. 

 
 

Gedling Code 
 

Model Code 

 Written as an instruction to 
Councillors “You must, you should” 
 

 Written in the first person “I 
act, I treat” etc. 

 Introduction is very clear on 
expectations, strong words setting 
out lack of tolerance for misconduct, 
expectation of high standards 

 “Purpose of the Code” – this 
paragraph is much softer in tone, 
references need for support and 
training prior to action being taken 
under the Code. 
 

 Interpretation section no 
definition of co-opted member 

  Definition section provides 
co-opted member definition and 
includes Mayor. 
 

 “Scope” sets out when the 
Code applies. Fairly brief but clear 
that it only applies when acting in 
official capacity. 

 “Application of the Code of 
Conduct” – definition of official 
capacity not as clear but does 
include reference to communications 
which may be helpful” 
 

 “Seven Principles of Public 
Life” – instructs Councillors to follow 
7 principles and gives explanation of 
each one. 

 “General Principles of 
Councillor Conduct” – the principles 
are a list of statements/pledges that 
a Councillor is upholding principles 
i.e. “I act with integrity and honesty” 
 

 “General obligations” – 
Respect – Similar definitions but 
more general rather than specific list 
of who should be respected. 

 Guidance notes on the code 
aren’t included within the document 
except into relation to bullying and 
harassment.  

 “General Conduct” – Respect 
– more specific in terms of who 
should be treated with respect and 
explanatory note within the code 
describing what respect means and 
how to deal with people who are not 
respectful to you. 

Page 53



 Bullying guidance in appendix 
references types of bullying. 

 Harassment is also 
separately defined in Appendix 1 to 
the Code 

 Reference to equalities is not 
do anything that may cause the 
Council to breach the Equality Act 
2010 

 I do not bully any person – 
definitions of bullying given as part of 
this section in line with ACAS. 

 Specific reference to 
harassment - again definition 
provided. 

 Requirement to promote 
equalities and not to unlawfully 
discriminate.  Wider that the 
Council’s reference and details 
around protected characteristics 
provided. Whether obligation to 
promote equalities is necessary. 

 Intimidation in relation to code 
of conduct complaints and 
investigations is covered separately 
in this code. 

 Impartiality is referenced 
under bullying/intimidation section in 
relation to officers of the Council. 

 Impartiality has more 
emphasis and clear explanation as 
to what that means/expectations in 
respect of officers. 

 Confidential information – 
largely matches Model Code but 2 
extra points in model code. 

 Confidentiality matches 
Council Code with the addition of a 
requirement to consult the MO 
before disclosing confidential 
information. Too burdensome? Also 
4.2 is additional potentially useful 
using information gained for own 
advancement. 

 Guidance is quite slim and 
could be misinterpreted. 

 Disrepute the same   Disrepute the same but 
guidance 

 Use of position and 
resources. Codes match in relation 
to use of position. 

 Resource use, Gedling goes 
further specifically referencing the 
requirement to comply with legal 
obligations etc. which is not 
referenced in the model code. 

 Use of position matches 
Gedling but with guidance. 

 Resource use includes 
reference to facilities, second part of 
7.2 rather wordy and open to 
interpretation. No reference to 
complying with policies, legal 
obligations etc. 

 Sections 11-13 are not 
included in the model code, although 
there is reference to Leadership in 
the Application of the Code section 
of the Model Code. 11-13 are 
positive requirements. They do 
support the Nolan Principles further 
but are helpful rules in the Code that 

 No directly comparative 
sections in the model code, but they 
do echo the Nolan Principles partly. 

Page 54



aren’t specifically addressed in the 
Model Code. 

 Intimidation of those 
investigating code complaints is 
referenced in 2(c) (iii) and paras 8 
and 9 of the Gedling Code reflect 
requirement to comply with 
investigation and not make “trivial or 
malicious allegations” don’t 
reference training and complying 
with Sanctions. 
 

 Rule 8 specifically relates to 
co-operation and compliance with 
the code. It makes undertaking 
training mandatory, requirement to 
co-operate with a code investigation 
and follow any sanctions and 
reference to not intimidating those 
involved with an investigation. 

 The requirements in relation 
to disclosure of interests and 
registering is set out in more detail 
after types of interests are defined.  

 Rule 9 the requirement to 
register and disclose interests is 
included in this part of the Code. 
Types of interest are in the Annex to 
the code as is details around 
offences etc. 

 Gifts and hospitality are 
referenced at the end of the Code 
and the requirement to register them 
and £50 requirement 

 Rule 10 – Gifts and hospitality 
is more detailed and discourages 
gifts at all, 10.1 is helpful perhaps to 
include. 

 Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests - listed 

 DPIs in table 1 at Appendix 2 

 Non-pecuniary interests set 
out, there are only 2 categories of 
interest DPIs and non- pecuniary, 
the non-pecuniary also covers non 
DPI matters in relation to land and 
unpaid employment. 

 Non Registerable Interests 
referred to and Other registerable 
Interests - so essentially 3 
categories of interest. 

 Other registerable interests 
relate to business affecting a body of 
which you are a member or in a 
position of control and appointed by 
the Council, also bodies exercising 
functions of public nature etc., set 
out in a separate table. 

 Non-registerable Interests 
defined as affecting your financial 
interests or wellbeing or family 
member included in Appendices. 
Slightly confused layout. 

 Nolan principles listed at the 
start of the Code. 

 Appendix A sets out the 
Nolan Principles as they are set out 
in Gedling Code at the beginning 
definitions slightly different. 

 Sensitive Interests set out in 
paras 19 of the Gedling Code 

 Mentioned in the Appendix B 

 
Members then discussed the comparisons as set out below: 
 

Page 55



 View on whether code written in the first person is preferred. 
 

Conclusion 
 
Preference was not to move to a Code written in the first person. The 
Gedling Code, written more as a set of rules/instructions you must, you 
shall was clearer for Members and the public and more compelling. 
 

 Whether Nolan principles are adequately covered in the Gedling Code. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Model Code references the Nolan principles as both declarations “I 
act with…” then includes the principles in an appendix. Members felt 
this was a little repetitive, having them set out as clear principles as in 
the Gedling Code with explanatory sentence underneath was more 
concise and clearer. Any restatement of the principles dilutes their 
importance. 
 

 Whether more guidance should be included within the Gedling Code. 
 

Conclusion 
 
The guidance in the model Code accompanies each section. The 
Gedling Code does have an appendix referencing bullying and 
harassment and this is cross referenced in the Code itself. Whilst it was 
felt that a guidance document may be helpful to support the Gedling 
Code, it shouldn’t form part of the Code itself as it makes the Code 
lengthy and more difficult to digest. An additional guidance document 
published on the website and circulated to members may be useful to 
work up but not included in the Code itself. 
 

 Whether the extra parts in the Model Code in relation to conduct 
investigations, gifts and hospitality, confidential information, acting in 
capacity, should be added to the Gedling Code or any other changes 
should be made to the Gedling Code reflecting on the table above. 

 
Conclusion 
 
Generally members preferred the Gedling Code. The introduction was 
clearer in terms of expectations, the Scope section sufficed in terms of 
“acting in capacity” and any reference to social media and other 
communications when looking at capacity could form part of guidance 
documents. 
 
The requirement around attending Code training in the Model Code 
and the requirement to comply with outcome of Code investigations 
was considered too much, not least because if sanctions aren’t 
followed after an investigation, this would trigger another investigation 
by the MO and the matter should perhaps be considered with group 

Page 56



leaders. Training is provided and members understand the need to 
attend. 
 
Gifts and hospitality in the Gedling Code is considered satisfactory. 
Committee do review Gifts and Hospitality annually and members are 
aware of the rules, Model Code perhaps goes too far. 
 
In relation to confidential information, the requirement to seek MO 
approval for releasing information in the Model Code is considered too 
much and would create an unnecessary burden. If in doubt Members 
would seek advice in any event. 
 
 

 Whether parts in the Gedling Code (11-13) should be removed. 
 

Conclusion 
 
Members agreed they were helpful paragraphs and something that 
should remain as they reflected the Member’s responsibilities to 
constituents and were useful guides as to conduct. 
 

 How interests should be included in the Code (layout appendix or not) 

 Whether Non-pecuniary interests in the Gedling Code are excessive. 

 Whether distinction between non-registerable and other interests 
should be included in the Gedling Code. 

 
Conclusions 
 
Interests were taken together. Members felt the layout in the Model 
Code was confusing, referencing back to Code and appendix and 
tables of interests, the layout of interest in the Gedling Code followed 
by the disclosure requirements was a better format and was clearer. 
 
Members preferred the DPI and Non-pecuniary split rather than the 3 
categories in the Model Code. In any guidance document it may be 
helpful to provide clarification around non pecuniary membership of 
bodies e.g. RSPB? However generally the Gedling Code and layout of 
interests was something Members found helpful and clear. 

 
 
Recommendations 
 
Members preferred the Gedling Code of Conduct generally and felt that following the 
review in 2019, the Code remained fit for purpose. The working group proposed the 
following recommendations to Standards Committee: 
 

 Having reviewed the Gedling Code of Conduct and compared and contrasted 
with the LGA Model Code, the Working Group proposes that the Gedling 
Code of Conduct remain unchanged. 

Page 57



 The Working Group did consider that a guidance document for members and 
the public in relation to the Code may be helpful and would recommend that 
the Monitoring Officer prepare such a document for consideration by the 
Committee at a future meeting. 

Page 58



Appendix 3 

Approved 17 July 2019      

Members’ Code of Conduct   

PART 1 General Provisions Introduction  

1.      (1)  Gedling Borough Council is committed to promoting and maintaining    

high standards of conduct by Members and co-opted Members of the 

Council.  The actions of those who represent the Council impact on 

how the Council as a whole is viewed.  Misconduct can seriously 

damage the effectiveness and reputation of the Council and will not be 

tolerated.  Those serving their communities must adhere to the high 

standards expected of them to promote public confidence in local 

democracy.  

(2)   This Code of Conduct has been adopted by the Council under Section 

27 of the Localism Act 2011 and sets out the standards that Members 

are expected to observe.  

Interpretation  

2.   (1)   This Code applies to you as a Member of the Council.  

(2) It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code.   

Failure to do so may result in a sanction being imposed by the Council.  

Failure to take appropriate action in respect of a disclosable Pecuniary 

Interest may result in a criminal conviction.  

(3) In this Code:  

    “meeting” means any meeting of:  

 (a)    the Council;  

(b) the executive of the Council;  

(c) any of the Council’s or its Executive’s committees, sub- 

committees, joint committees, joint sub-committees, or area 

committees;      

“Member” includes a co-opted member or an appointed member.  

Scope  

3. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), you must comply with this Code 

whenever you:  

(a) Conduct the business of the Council (which, in this Code, 

includes the business of the office to which you are elected or 

appointed); or   

(b) act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a 

representative of the Council;  

and references to your official capacity are construed accordingly.  

      

  

(2) Where you act as a representative of the Council:  

Page 59



Approved 17 July 2019      

(a) on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that 

other authority, comply with that other authority’s Code of 

Conduct; or   

(b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, 

comply with this Code of Conduct, except and insofar as it 

conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that other 

body may be subject.  

(3) This Code does not have effect in relation to your conduct other than 

where it is in your official capacity.  

  

The Seven Principles of Public Life  

4. You must observe the following general principles:  

Selflessness  

You should take decisions solely in terms of the public interest.  You should 

not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, your 

family or your friends.  

Integrity  

You should not place yourself under any financial or other obligation to 

outside individuals or organisations that might influence you in the 

performance of your official duties.  

Objectivity  

In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 

awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, 

you should make choices on merit.  

Accountability  

You are accountable for your decisions and actions to the public and must 

submit yourself to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office.  

Openness  

You should be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions that 

you take.  You should give reasons for your decisions and restrict information 

only when the wider public interest clearly demands.  

Honesty  

You have a duty to declare any private interests relating to your public duties 

and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the 

public interest.  

Leadership  

You should promote and support these principles by leadership and example.  

  

  

Page 60



Approved 17 July 2019      

General Obligations     

5. (1) You must:   

(a) treat others with respect, including the organisations and public you 

engage with and those you work alongside.  

(b) value your colleagues and staff and engage with them in an 

appropriate manner and one that underpins the mutual respect 

between you that is essential to good local government.  

(2) You must not:  

(a) do anything which may cause the Council to breach the Equality 

Act 2010;  

(b) bully or harass any person.   

The definition of bullying and harassment and examples of behaviour 

which amounts to bullying and harassment are set out in Appendix 1 to 

the Code of Conduct;  

(c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely 

to be:  

(i) a complainant;  

(ii) a witness;  

(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or 

proceedings, in relation to an allegation that a member 

(including yourself) has failed to comply with the Code of 

Conduct; or   

(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the 

impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Council.  

6. You must not:  

(a)  disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 

information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to 

be aware, is of a confidential nature, except where:  

(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;  

(ii) you are required by law to do so;  

(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional advice provided that the third party 

agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or 

(iv)  the disclosure is:  

(aa) reasonable and in the public interest; and  

(bb) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable  

   requirements of the Council; or  

(b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 

person is entitled by law.  

Page 61



Approved 17 July 2019      

7. You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be 

regarded as bringing your office or the Council into disrepute.  

8. You must not make trivial or malicious allegations that another Member has 

failed to comply with the Code of Conduct.  

9. You must comply with any formal standards investigation carried out in 

relation to an allegation that you have failed to comply with the Code of 

Conduct.  

10. You must:  

(a) not use or attempt to use your position as a member improperly to 

confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or 

disadvantage;   

(b) when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the 

Council:  

(i) act in accordance with the Council’s reasonable requirements; 

and  

(ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political 

purposes (including party political purposes);    

(c) have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made 

under the Local Government Act 1986;  

(d) behave in accordance with all legal obligations, alongside any 

requirements contained within the Council’s policies, protocols and 

procedures.  

11. (1) When reaching decisions on any matter you must listen to the interests of 

all parties and have regard to relevant advice provided to you by:  

(a) The Council’s Chief Finance Officer; or  

(b) The Council’s Monitoring Officer;  

  (where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her statutory duties) and other 

professional officers, taking all relevant information into consideration, 

remaining objective and making decisions on merit.  

(2) You must:  

(a) exercise independent judgement and not compromise your 

position by placing yourself under obligations to outside 

individuals or organisations who might seek to influence the way 

you perform your duties as a member.  

(b) contribute to making the Council’s decision-making processes 

as open and transparent as possible to enable residents to 

understand the reasoning behind those decisions and to be 

informed when holding you and other members to account.  

(c) be accountable for your decisions and co-operate when 

scrutinised internally and externally, including by local residents.   

12. You must:  

Page 62



Approved 17 July 2019      

(a) champion the needs of residents – the whole community and your 

constituents, including those who did not vote for you – and put 

their interests first.  

(b) deal with representations, or enquiries from residents, members of 

our communities and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially.  

(c) not allow other pressures, including your financial interests or 

others connected to you, to deter you from pursuing constituents 

casework, the interests of the Council’s area or the good 

governance of the Council in a proper manner.  

13. You must provide leadership by behaving in accordance with these principles 

when championing the interests of the community with other organisations as 

well as within the Council.  

PART 2 Interests Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

12. (1) You have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any business of the 

Council where it is of a description set out in paragraph 12(2) and either:     

 (a)   it is an interest of yours; or  

(b) it is an interest of your spouse or civil partner and you are aware that 

the other person has the interest; or  

(c) it is an interest of a person with whom you are living as husband and 

wife and you are aware that the other person has the interest; or  

(d) it is an interest of a person with whom you are living as if you were civil 

partners and you are aware that the other person has the interest.  

  (2)  Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities 

(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 as follows –   

   

Interest  Prescribed description  

Employment, office, 

trade, profession or 

vocation  

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried 

on for profit or gain.  

    

Sponsorship  Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the Council) made or provided within the 
previous 12 months (up to and including the date of 
notification of the interest) in respect of any expenses 
incurred by you carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
your election expenses.  

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 

union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 

Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.  

    

Page 63



Approved 17 July 2019      

Contracts  Any contract which is made between you, your spouse or 

civil partner or person with whom you are living as a spouse 

or civil partner (or a body in which you or they have a 

beneficial interest) and the Council:  

  

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 

works are to be executed; and  

  

(b) which has not been fully discharged.  

  
For this purpose “body in which you or they have a beneficial interest” 

means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner or a body 

corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the securities 

of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest.  “Director” 

includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial 

and provident society.  

    

Land  Any beneficial interest in land which is within the Council’s 
area.  

For this purpose “land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or 

right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for you, your 

spouse, civil partner or person with whom you are living as a spouse or 

civil partner (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to 

receive income.  

    

Licences  Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 

Council’s area for a month or longer.  

    

Corporate tenancies  Any tenancy where (to your knowledge):  

  

(a) the landlord is the Council; and   

  

(b) the tenant is a body in which you, your spouse or 

civil partner or a person you are living with as a 

spouse or civil partner has a beneficial interest  

    

Securities  Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  

  

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of 

business or land in the Council’s area; and  

  

(b) either:  

  

i) The total nominal value of the securities  

exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the  

total issued share capital of that body; or  

Page 64



Approved 17 July 2019      

  

ii) If the share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which you, 
your spouse or civil partner or person with 
whom you are living as a spouse or civil  
partner has a beneficial interest exceeds 

one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 
For this purpose, “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture 

stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within 

the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other 

securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building 

society.  

    

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests in matters considered at meetings  

13. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and (3), where you are:  

   (a)   present at a meeting of the Council; and  

(b) have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be considered, or 

being considered at the meeting; and  

(c) you are aware that you have such an interest, you must:  

(i) disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest 

at the commencement of that consideration, or when the 

interest becomes apparent, whether or not such interest is 

registered in the Council’s register of interests of members and 

co-opted members or for which you have made a pending 

notification; and  

(ii) not participate or participate further, in any discussion of the 

matter at the meeting; or participate in any vote, or further vote, 

taken on the matter at the meeting; and  

(iii) in accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders, withdraw 

from the room or chamber where a meeting considering the 

business is being held:  

aa) in the case where sub-paragraph (3) applies, immediately 

after making representations, answering questions or 

giving evidence;  

bb) in any other case, wherever it becomes apparent that the 

business is being considered at that meeting; unless you 

have obtained a dispensation from the Council’s Standards 

Committee or Monitoring Officer.  

(2) Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest which by virtue of paragraph 

19 is considered to be a sensitive interest, you must indicate to the meeting 

that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in the matter concerned, but 

need not disclose the details of the interest to the meeting.  

Page 65



Approved 17 July 2019      

(3) Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any business of the 

Council, you may attend a meeting (including a meeting of the overview and 

scrutiny committee of the Council or of a sub-committee of such a committee) 

but only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or 

giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also 

allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a 

statutory right or otherwise.  

(4)Where the interest is not entered in the Council's register of interests of 

members and co-opted members and is not the subject of a pending 

notification, you must notify the Council's Monitoring Officer of the interest in 

writing before the end of 28 days beginning with the date of the meeting.  

  

  

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests in matters considered by a single member  

14. (1) Where:  

(a) a function of the Council may be discharged by you acting alone;   

(b) you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be to be 

dealt with, or being dealt with, by you in the course of discharging that 

function; and  

(c) you are aware that you have such an interest,  you must not take any 

steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter (except for the 

purpose of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by the 

member).  

(2)Where the interest is not entered in the Council's register of interests of 

members and co-opted members and is not the subject of a pending 

notification, you must notify the Council's Monitoring Officer of the interest in 

writing before the end of 28 days beginning with the date when you became 

aware that the condition in sub-paragraph 14(1)(c) is met in relation to the 

matter.  

  

Criminal offences relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

15. (1) You will commit an offence if, without reasonable excuse, you –  

(a) Fail to notify the Council's Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your 

election of any disclosable pecuniary interests which you have at the time 

when the notification is given.  

  

(b) Fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be 

considered, or being considered, to the meeting where that interest is not 

entered in the Council's register of interests of members and co-opted 

members.   

  

(c) Fail to notify the Council's Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary 

interest that you have disclosed to a meeting, where that interest is not 

Page 66



Approved 17 July 2019      

already entered in the Council's register of interests of members and 

coopted members or subject to a pending notification, before the end of 28 

days beginning with the date of the meeting.  

  

(d) Are an executive member and you fail to notify the Council's Monitoring 

Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest that you have in any matter to 

be to be dealt with, or being dealt with, by you in the course of discharging 

that executive function, where that interest is not entered in the Council's 

register of interests of members and co-opted members or subject to a 

pending notification, before the end of 28 days beginning with the date that 

you became aware of such an interest.  

  

(e) participate, or participate further, in any discussion of a matter in which 

you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, or participate in any vote, or 

further vote, taken on any such matter.  

  

(f) Are an executive member and you take any steps, or any further steps, in 

relation to any matter to be to be dealt with, or being dealt with, by you in 

the course of discharging that executive function in which you have a 

disclosable pecuniary interest (except for the purpose of enabling the 

matter to be dealt with otherwise than by you).  

  

(g) Provide information that is false or misleading when notifying the 

Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest or in disclosing such 

interest to a meeting and you:  

  

i. know that the information is false or misleading, or  

  

ii. are reckless as to whether the information is true and not 

misleading.  

  

Interests other than Disclosable Pecuniary Interests Non-pecuniary Interests  

16. (1) You have a non-pecuniary interest in any business of the Council where 

either:  

(a) It relates to or is likely to affect:  

(i)  any body of which you are a member or in a position of general 

control or management and to which you are appointed or nominated by 

the Council; (ii)   any body:  

(aa) exercising functions of a public nature;  

(bb) directed to charitable purposes; or  

(cc) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of   

    public opinion or policy (including any political party or   

    trade union).  

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or    

management;  

Page 67



Approved 17 July 2019      

(iii) any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 

by you not for profit or gain;  

(iv) any easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which 

does not carry with it a right for you (alone or jointly with 

another) to occupy the land or to receive income;  

(v) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift 

or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50;  

or   

(b) A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as 

affecting your well-being or financial position or the well-being or financial 

position of:  

(i) a member of your family or any person with whom you have a 

close association;   

(ii) any person or body who employs or has appointed such 

persons, any firm in which they are a partner, or any company of 

which they are directors;  

(iii) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial 

interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of 

£25,000; or   

(iv) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph (1)(a)(i) or (ii).  

  

to a greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers,  

ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, as the case 

may be, affected by the decision.  

  

Disclosure of Non-pecuniary Interests  

17. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) to (6), where you have a non-pecuniary interest 

in any business of the Council and you attend a meeting of the Council at 

which the business is considered, you must disclose to that meeting the 

existence and nature of that interest at the commencement of that 

consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent.  

(2) Where you have a non-pecuniary interest in any business of the Council which 

relates to or is likely to affect a person described in paragraph 16(1)(a)(i) or 

16(1)(a)(ii)(aa), you need only disclose to the meeting the existence and nature of 

that interest when you address the meeting on that business.  

(3) Sub-paragraph (1) only applies where you are aware or ought reasonably to be 

aware of the existence of the non-pecuniary interest.  

(4) Where you have a non-pecuniary interest but, by virtue of paragraph 19 it is 

considered to be a sensitive interest, you must indicate to the meeting that you 

have a non-pecuniary interest in the matter concerned, but need not disclose the 

details of the interest to the meeting.  

.  (5) Where you have a non-pecuniary interest in any business of the Council 

and you have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you 

Page 68



Approved 17 July 2019      

must ensure that any written statement of that decision records the existence 

and nature of that interest.  

(6) In this paragraph “executive decision” is to be construed in accordance with 

any regulations made by the Secretary of State under Section 22 of the Local 

Government Act 2000.  

(7) Subject to paragraphs (8) and (9) below, if you have a non-pecuniary interest in 

any business of the Council you may participate, vote and remain in the  

room or chamber where a meeting considering the business is being held 

unless  your interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of 

the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to 

prejudice your judgement of the public interest.  

(8) If you have a non-pecuniary interest in any business of the Council you may 

participate, vote and remain in the room or chamber where a meeting 

considering the business is being held where that business relates to the 

functions of the Council in respect of:  

(i) housing, where you are a tenant of your authority provided that those 

functions do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease;  

(ii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions 

and Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to 

the receipt of, such pay;  

(iii) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members;  

(iv) any ceremonial honour given to members; and   

(v) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance 

Act 1992.  

(9) Where you have a non-pecuniary interest in any business of the Council in the 

circumstances set out in paragraph (7) above, you may remain in the room or 

chamber where a meeting considering the business is being held for the 

purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving evidence 

relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed to attend the 

meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise.  

  

Gifts and Hospitality  

17. (1) You must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer in 

writing of any gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £50.00 which 

you have accepted as a member from any person or body other than the 

authority.  

(2) Any gifts or hospitality notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included 

in the register of interests of gifts and hospitality.  

(3) The duty to notify the Monitoring officer does not apply where the gift or 

hospitality comes within any description approved by the Council for this 

purpose.  

  

Page 69



Approved 17 July 2019      

PART 3 Register of interests of members and co-opted members   

18. (1) Subject to paragraph 19, you must, within 28 days of:  

 (a) this Code being adopted by the Council, or   

(b) your election or appointment to office (where that is later),  

register in the Council’s register of interests of members and co-opted   

members  (maintained under Section 29(1) of the Localism Act 2011) details 

of all disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests you have at 

the time the notification is given by providing written notification to the 

Council’s Monitoring Officer.  

(2) Where you become a member or co-opted member of the Council as a result   

of re-election or re-appointment, sub-paragraph (1) applies only as regards 

interests not entered in the Council’s register of interests of members and co-

opted members when the notification is given.  

(3) You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interests or change to 

any interests registered under paragraph (1), register details of that new 

interests or change by providing written notification to the Council’s Monitoring 

Officer.  

(4) You are obliged to register details of disclosable pecuniary interests in     

accordance with paragraphs 13(4) and 14(2).  

(5) Any interests notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included in the register    

of interests of members and co-opted members.  

(6) A copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be       

published on the Council’s website.  

Sensitive Interests     

19.(1) This paragraph applies where you have an interest (whether or not a  

disclosable pecuniary interest) and the nature of the interest is such that you 

and the Council's Monitoring Officer, consider that disclosure of the details of 

the interest could lead to  you or a person connected with you being subject 

to violence or intimidation (“sensitive interest”).   

  

(2) If the sensitive interest is entered in the Council’s register of interests of   

members and co-opted members, copies of the register that are made 

available for inspection, and any published version of the register, will not 

include details of the interest (but may state that you have an interest the 

details of which are withheld under Section 32(2) of the Localism Act 2011).  

(3) You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of 

circumstances  which means that an interest excluded under paragraph 

19(2) is no longer a sensitive interest, notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer 

asking that the interest be included in copies of the register that are made 

available for inspection, and any published version of the register.  

APPENDIX 1  

Page 70



Approved 17 July 2019      

Definitions and examples of behaviour which amount to bullying or 

harassment  

  

Bullying may be characterised as behaviour, or an abuse or misuse of power 

in a way that undermines, humiliates, unfairly criticises or injures someone.  

  

A non-exhaustive list of behaviour which amounts to bullying includes:   

• spreading malicious rumours, or insulting someone by word or behaviour  

• copying correspondence that is critical about someone to others who do not 

need to know  

• ridiculing or demeaning someone - picking on them or setting them up to fail  

• exclusion - deliberately excluding someone from meetings or written 

correspondence in matters for which they have a responsibility or professional 

interest or deliberately excluding someone from events or celebrations that it 

would ordinarily be expected that they might legitimately attend  

• victimisation - taking action detrimental to someone as a result of them raising 

a complaint or issue of concern in good faith through formal and correct 

procedure whether or not the complaint was upheld or proven  

• unfair treatment  

• overbearing supervision or other misuse of power or position  

• unwelcome sexual advances-touching, standing too close, display of offensive 

materials, asking for sexual favours, making decisions on the basis of sexual 

advances being accepted or rejected  

• making threats or comments about job security without foundation  

• publicly criticising the work or efficiency of someone where the issue has not 

been formally raised with that person through proper process and the right of 

explanation or appeal has not been made available  

• deliberately undermining a competent worker by overloading and constant 

criticism  

• preventing individuals progressing by intentionally blocking promotion or 

training opportunities  

  

Harassment may be characterised as unwanted conduct which has the 

purpose or effect of violating an individual’s dignity or creating an  

intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for an 

individual.  

  

A non-exhaustive list of behaviour which amounts to harassment includes:   

Page 71



Approved 17 July 2019      

• frequent unwanted contact, including texts, letters, phone calls, emails 

and communication via social media or any other electronic 

communication  

• sending unwanted gifts  

• driving past an individual’s home or visiting them at work without 

legitimate purpose or following or watching an individual  

• sharing humiliating information, lies or gossip about an individual  

• making inappropriate comments, critical remarks or offensive jokes   

• threatening behaviour  

• excessive demands that are impossible to deliver  

• making sexual comments or jokes or inappropriate sexual gestures  

• making jokes or degrading or patronising comments or teasing an 

individual about their race, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation or 

disability. This would also amount to an offence under the Equality Act.  

  

Page 72



 
 

Report to Council 
 
Subject:  
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Date:  17 November 2021 

Author:  Director of Corporate Resources and Section 151 Officer  

Purpose 

This report seeks approval for the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) 
to continue without revision in 2022/23. 

Recommendation(s) 

THAT: 

The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) 2022/23, to apply from 1 April 2022, be 
approved and adopted by full Council, and that there are no changes to the CTRS 
for working age people as described in Section 2 of this report, except for the annual 
uprating and amendments of allowances and premiums in line with Housing Benefit 
levels. 

  

1 Background 

1.1 Members will recall that from 1 April 2013, the Council Tax Benefit Scheme 
was replaced by a localised support scheme for Council Tax known as the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS). All billing authorities (district and 
unitary authorities) were required to devise their own scheme for working 
age claimants. Pensioners are protected by Government legislation and 
continue to receive discount equivalent to that received under the Council 
Tax Benefit Scheme i.e. up to 100%. 

 

1.2 On 19 December 2012, following a full consultation exercise, Gedling 
Borough Council adopted a Council Tax Reduction Scheme very similar to 
the previous national Council Tax Benefits scheme,  enabling a maximum 
award entitlement of up to 100% discount but with the following main 
differences for working age claimants: 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 12



a) No entitlement to CTRS for claimants whose savings were greater than 
£6,000; 

b) Removal of the Second Adult Rebate Scheme;  
c) A flat rate non-dependant deduction of £7.50 for each adult member of 

the household; 
d) Automatic backdating of CTRS for a maximum of 3 months; and 
e) Entitlement to the extended payments “back to work” incentive for the 

long term unemployed, increased from four weeks to twelve weeks. 
 

1.3 On 22 January 2014, Council resolved to adopt a CTRS that included 
provision to allow for the annual uprating of allowances and premiums 
without this being classed as a material change to the scheme. 

1.4 Since the 22 January 2014 the Council has continued with its CTRS without 
revision, and this is the scheme currently in use by the Council. 

1.5 Paragraph 5 of Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
requires the Council to consider whether the CTRS is to be revised or 
replaced for each financial year. The Act required that where the scheme is 
to be revised or replaced, the Council has to have made a decision no later 
than 31 January in the financial year preceding that for which the revision or 
replacement scheme is to have effect. 

1.6 The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Amendment) England S.I. 2017 No. 
1305 amended the date of 31 January to 11 March to allow for a longer 
period of consideration and consultation if required. 

 Funding Arrangements 

1.7 At the outset of the CTRS scheme in 2013/14 Central Government provided 
non-ring-fenced grant funding to Gedling via the Revenue Support Grant 
mechanism.  Revenue Support Grant has been reduced year on year and 
was fully removed from the 2019/20 financial settlement. 

1.8 Since 2013/14, the resulting shortfall in funding of the CTRS has had to be 
met by a combination of: 

 Raising more income through further changes to Council Tax empty 
property discounts/premiums; 

 Additional income through the Business Rates Retention Scheme;  

 Raising income or reducing expenditure through other service area 
efficiencies. 
 

1.9 The other option for meeting any shortfall in funding is to reduce the total 
spend on the CTRS i.e. change from a 100% scheme. 

1.10 The 2021/22 scheme was agreed by full Council in January 2021 based on 
an expenditure forecast of £8m. Expenditure is now projected to be around 

Page 74



£7.7m at the year-end (March 2022) due to caseloads not currently rising to 
the level originally anticipated, potentially due to the extension of some of 
the Government Covid support packages for individuals until September of 
this year. The costs of CTRS are proportionately shared by the Council and 
the major preceptors.    

1.11 With the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (furlough scheme) having 
ended on the 30 September 2021 it is projected that the caseload will 
increase in 2022/23. Council tax increases are also expected to be applied 
by the major preceptors in 2022/23 and therefore CTRS expenditure is 
expected to increase again.  

1.12 During 2020/21 the Government recognised some of the financial 
challenges being faced by working families as a result of Covid-19 and 
provided Council Tax Hardship funding of £873,000 which the Council used 
to reduce 2020/21 Council Tax liabilities for working families in receipt of 
CTRS by up to £450, and to date this has provided support to over 2,200 
households.  In addition, there was sufficient Council Tax Hardship funding 
remaining from the sum received in 2020/21 to enable the Council to provide 
all current recipients of working age council tax reduction scheme (CTRS) 
some further support during the financial year 2021/22, with a reduction in 
their annual council tax bill of up to £50. The scheme is subject of a monthly 
review to ensure that expenditure can be maintained within the existing 
funding.  Whilst the CTRS caseload is expected to increase in 2022/23 there 
is currently no indication that hardship funding will be provided by 
Government to provide further support for claimants in 2022/23 meaning that 
pressures will be increased for this financially vulnerable group. 

1.13 The Government has provided a Local Council Tax Support Grant for 
2021/22, paid directly to Billing and Major Precepting Authorities to cover the 
additional cost associated with increases in CTRS caseload but there is 
currently no indication that this will continue for 2022/23. 

2 Proposal 

2.1 An objective review of the CTRS for the 2022/23 financial year has been 
completed and has considered alternative options for amending the current 
CTRS against the backdrop of the financial challenges continuing to be 
faced by working families including, for example, the Job Retention Scheme 
(furlough scheme) ending and the withdrawal of the pandemic universal 
credit uplift of £20.00 a week.    

2.2 Of the £7.7m estimated 2021/22 cost of the CTRS, £3.1m is awarded to 
those customers of a pensionable age with £4.6m awarded to the working 
age client group. Any reductions to the Council’s CTRS expenditure are only 

Page 75



available in respect of our Working Age claimants as pensioners are 100% 
protected. 

2.3 The total number of working age claimants is in the region of 4,600 
households on low incomes, of which 1,400 are classed as Vulnerable 
groups.  “Vulnerable groups” are households where the claimant or their 
partner is in receipt of Disability Living Allowance or Personal Independence 
Payments, or the household includes a disabled child.  

 Review of the options 

2.4 There is a fine balance between the cost of the scheme, the available 
funding, and the ability of people on low incomes being able to afford to pay 
their council tax.  As the current CTRS offers a maximum award of 100% 
any alternative option is based upon reducing the level of financial support 
to low income working age claimants which may then deliver a saving for the 
Council. 

2.5 The individual option that would generate the highest saving for the Council 
and which would be simple to administer, would be to reduce the current 
maximum entitlement from 100% to, for example, 90% or 80% therefore 
requiring all working age households to pay a minimum of at least 10% or 
20% of their annual council tax bill. For example, each household in a Band 
A property in a non-parished area, who currently has a zero Council Tax 
charge, would be required to pay £277 pa if the maximum award is reduced 
to 80%. The total annual savings that would be generated and shared 
proportionately by the Council and major preceptors would be in the region 
of: 

 Reducing the maximum award to 90% would make a saving of  
£532,000 (GBC saving of 9.19% amounts to £49,000); 
 

 Reducing the maximum award to 80% would make a saving of 
£1,056,000 (GBC saving 9.19% amounts to £97,000) 

 

2.6 Whilst these savings in total are significant, this would require more low 
income households to start paying Council Tax that have not done so before, 
and this will require an increase in administration resources to manage the 
additional collection and recovery workload, particularly as council tax 
arrears would be expected to increase. This could negate any anticipated 
savings for Gedling, because Gedling will pay the full costs of the additional 
officers whilst only keeping our share (9.19%) of any additional amount 
collected.  

2.7 Many Councils that have implemented this option, including some in 
Nottinghamshire, have previously reported that their Council Tax in-year 

Page 76



collection rate decreased and that this was entirely due to their scheme 
change so it is probable that the savings detailed above would be lower, 
particularly in the early years of the introduction of such a change.  
Nationally, studies have shown that if the Council was minded to change the 
scheme, the best results in terms of maintaining cash collection levels would 
be to incrementally change the scheme e.g. a 10% reduction in year one 
and then reducing the scheme year on year 

2.8 Nationally and locally, households reliant on financial support such as the 
CTRS are considered some of the most financially vulnerable residents. For 
Gedling, this has been evidenced by the increase in claimant reliance on the 
Council’s Discretionary Housing Payments scheme and the Housing Needs 
Repossession Prevention support scheme. Consequently, these 
households would have even greater difficulty than other households in 
being able to afford increases in their expenditure, and it would therefore be 
more likely that their Council Tax would remain unpaid.  It would also be 
more difficult to collect, and households may be subject to court action and 
associated Magistrates Court and Enforcement Agency fees. 
 

2.9 The DCLG have previously issued guidance on administrative matters to be 
considered in any CTRS, such as duties to vulnerable people, and that 
schemes should contain work incentives. Gedling’s CTRS currently contains 
all of these in the form of income and earnings disregards (in line with 
housing benefit levels) and protection from restricted liability for severely 
disabled people. 

 Conclusion 

2.10 It is concluded that a reduction in CTRS for Gedling’s most financially 
vulnerable households combined with the difficulties of collection, when 
compared to the potential savings for Gedling, would not yield any major 
financial or social benefit for the Council at a time of major economic 
uncertainty and the likely ongoing challenges the Covid-19 pandemic will 
present to our residents.   

2.11 It is proposed that the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme continues for 
the financial year 2022/23 without revision, except for any relevant national 
uprating which is covered within the current scheme, enabling the current 
maximum award entitlement to continue at 100% discount to ensure our 
financially vulnerable households continue to be supported. 

3 Alternative Options 

3.1 There are a variety of alternative options available to amend the CTRS which 
are shown at Appendix 1, all of which require a reduction in financial support 
to working age claimants, and which in the current financial climate due to 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, are not recommended. The option that 

Page 77



individually delivers the largest reduction in CTRS support is the percentage 
reduction in the award, as detailed in paragraph 2.5 above.   
 

3.2 The implementation of any proposed change to the CTRS would be subject 
to a period of public consultation.  

3.3 There is not the option to do nothing, as the Council is required to make a 
decision on this matter.  

4 Financial Implications 

4.1 The total discounts given under the CTRS are estimated to be £7.8m for the 
2022/23 financial year, of which Gedling’s share is £0.72m.  The Council’s 
current MTFP assumes continuation of the CTRS without revision and does 
not anticipate any savings from a change to the scheme. This indicates 
affordability of the scheme in 2022/23, if agreed by Council.    

5 Legal Implications 

5.1 Section 13A of The Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“the Act”) requires 
billing authorities to make a scheme specifying the reductions which apply 
to amounts of council tax payable (CTRS). Schedule 1A of the Act, and 
regulations made thereunder, provide the statutory framework for billing 
authorities in relation to the CTRS and provide detail as to what must and 
what could be included in a CTRS.  The Act requires authorities for each 
financial year to consider whether to revise or replace its CTRS by 11 March 
in the preceding financial year. This report reflects that statutory 
consideration.  

6 Equalities Implications  

6.1 The Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the Scheme has been reviewed 
with no issues identified and is shown in Appendix 2. 

7 Carbon Reduction/Environmental Sustainability Implications 

7.1 None arising.  

8 Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Alternative options 

Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

9 Background Papers 

9.1 Current Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 

Page 78



10 Reasons for Recommendations 

10.1 To comply with the requirements of Paragraph 5 of Schedule 1A to the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and the Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012/2885 

 
 

Statutory Officer approval 
 
Approved by the Chief Financial Officer  
Date: 5 November 2021  
  
 
Approved by the Monitoring Officer  
Date: 5 November 2021  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



Appendix 1 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme options for 2021/22 
 
Maximum award - under the current Council Tax Reduction scheme a claimant may be 
entitled to a 100% reduction of their entire Council Tax liability for the year due to their low 
level of income. One option for change is to reduce the award to 80% of the Council Tax 
Liability meaning all applicants paying a minimum of 20% towards their annual charge. 
Typically, for a household of two parents and two children on Job Seekers Allowance this 
would mean paying:- 
 
£277.48 per year or £5.32 per week in a Band A property  
£323.73 per year or £6.21 per week in a Band B property 
£369.98 per year or £7.10 per week in a Band C property 
 
Band restriction – For example, a claimant in a Band C property with a Council Tax 
Liability of £1,849.89 per year would only get the CTRS level of a Band A property of 
£1,387.42 per year. Typically, for a household of two parents and two children in a Band C 
property on Job Seekers Allowance this would mean paying £462.47 per year or £8.87 per 
week, equivalent to an overall reduction in entitlement of 25% 
 
Increase non-dependant deduction – under the current scheme any entitlement to CTRS 
is reduced by £7.50 per week for any additional resident over the age of 18. One option for 
consideration is to increase this deduction to £10.00 per week, a loss of £130 per year for 
the household. 
 
Increase taper rate – under the current scheme, if a claimant’s income is higher than their 
applicable amount (which is a government set of allowances and premiums reflecting the 
amount that a household “needs” to live on), the CTRS would be reduced by 20% of the 
excess. This option is to increase the taper to 25%. The claimant would have to pay more 
as their CTRS entitlement would be less. 
 
Disregard for child benefit and minimal award are self-explanatory and only small 
changes.  
 
Capital Limit – The current scheme sets an upper capital limit of £6,000 meaning any 
applicant who has capital above this threshold is not eligible for assistance. The following 
examples showing the savings and number of cases that would cease to be eligible from 
the existing caseload if the capital thresholds were lowered: 
 
a) Capital greater than £2,000 
        Total savings across all major preceptors £315,338     Gedling’s savings £28,980     
Number of households affected 384 
 
b) Capital greater than £3,000 
        Total savings across all major preceptors £209,776     Gedling’s savings £19,278     
Number of households affected 19 
c) Capital greater than £4,000 
        Total savings across all major preceptors £138,908     Gedling’s savings £12,766     
Number of households affected 128 

Page 80



Council Tax Reduction Scheme options for 2021/22 
 

 Change to current CTRS 
scheme 

EXCLUSIVE:- 

Total Saving GBC saving  
9.19% of total 

Excluding 
Vulnerable 

groups 

GBC saving 
9.19% excluding 

vulnerable 
groups 

Numbers of 
working age 
Households 

affected 

Numbers 
affected when 

vulnerable 
groups 

excluded 

1 Maximum award 80% £1,056,139 £97,059 £719,963 £66,165 4636 3226 

2 Maximum award 90% £532,659 £48,951 £409,374 £37,621 4636 3226 

3 Restriction to Band A £427,000 £39,241 £193,179 £17,753 1753 908 

4 Restriction to Band B £136,157 £12,513 £61,144 £5,619 504 252 

5 Restriction to Band C £59,857 £5,501 £30,680 £2,819 193 124 

6 Increase Non-dependant 
deduction from £7.50 to £10 

£74,264 £6,825  £0 334  

7 Increase Taper rate from 
20% to 25% 

£113,131 £10,397 £61,089 £5,614 748 403 

8 No disregard for Child 
Benefit 

£118,372 £10,878   542  

9 If Minimum award less than 
£5 per week make award nil. 

£23,873 £2,194  £0 363  

  
COMBINED:- 

      

10 Maximum award 80% + 
restriction to band B 

£1,158,461 £106,463 £808,568 £74,307 4636 3226 

11 Maximum award 90% + 
restriction to Band B 

£651,986 £59,918 £495,355 £45,523 4636 3226 

12 Maximum award 90% 
+restriction to band C 

£584,699 £53,734 £437,756 £40,230 4636 3226 

13 Maximum 80% + non dep 
£10 

£1,096,606 £100,778 £776,667 £71,376 4636 3226 

14 Maximum 90% + non dep 
£10 

£575,830 £52,919 £476,737 £43,812 4636 3226 

 Note: The Total Saving column relates to the full scheme including all major preceptors i.e. the County, Police, Fire and Gedling in line with the council tax 
charge.  

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2: Council Tax Reduction Scheme Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

The main objective of 
Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme report 

 

To consider the options for revising the existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme and its implications. 

 

What impact will this Council Tax Reduction Scheme report have on the following groups? Please note that you should consider both 
external and internal impact: 

 External (e.g. stakeholders, residents, local businesses etc.) 

 Internal (staff) 

Please use only ‘Yes’ where 
applicable 

Negative Positive Neutral Comments 

Gender 
External   X  

Internal   X  

 

Gender Reassignment 
External   X  

Internal   X  

Age External 
  

X 
The scheme does include age as a criteria, but 
there is no new impact from this report. 

Internal   X  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

External   X  

Internal   X  

Disability 
External 

  
X 

The scheme does include disability as a criteria, 
but there is no new impact from this report. 

P
age 83



 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 Internal   X  

 

Race & Ethnicity 
External   X  

Internal   X  

 

Sexual Orientation 
External   X  

Internal   X  

Religion or Belief (or no 
Belief) 

External   X  

Internal   X  

Pregnancy & Maternity External   X  

Internal   X  

Other Groups (e.g. any 
other vulnerable groups, 
rural isolation, deprived 
areas, low income staff 
etc.). Please state the 
group/s: 

 
External 

   
X 

The scheme considers vulnerable groups and low 
income households, but there is no new impact 
from this report. 

 
Internal 

   
X 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 84



 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Is there is any evidence of a high 
disproportionate adverse or 
positive impact on any groups? 

 No No proposed changes to the scheme. 

Is there an opportunity to mitigate 
or alleviate any such impacts? 

  N/A 

Are there any gaps in information 
available (e.g. evidence) so that a 
complete assessment of different 
impacts is not possible? 

 No  

 

In response to the information provided above please provide a set of proposed actions including any consultation that is going to be 
carried out: 

Planned Actions Timeframe Success Measure Responsible Officer 
    

    

 

Authorisation and Review 
 

P Whitworth 

A Ball 

05/11/2021 

No review required 
 

Completing Officer 

Authorising Head of Service 

Date 

Review date ( if applicable) 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report to Council 
 
Subject: External Audit Procurement 

Date: 17 November 2021 

Author: Director of Corporate Resources and Section 151 Officer 

 

Purpose 

To request approval for the Council to accept the invitation from Public 
Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) to “opt-in” to their sector-led 
national scheme to appoint a local auditor to audit the Council’s accounts 
under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (referred to below as 
‘the Act’) and the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. 
 

 

Recommendation 

THAT: 

1) Council agrees to accept the invitation from Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd to “opt-in” to their sector-led national scheme to 
appoint a local auditor to audit the Council’s accounts from 
2023/24 to 2027/28 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. 

 

1 Background 

1.1 In July 2016, PSAA were specified as an appointing person for principal 
local government and police bodies for audits from 2018/19 under the 
provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Local 
Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. Acting in accordance with 
this role PSAA is responsible for appointing an auditor and setting the 
scales of fees for relevant principal authorities that have chosen to opt into 
its national scheme. 98% of eligible bodies (including this Council) made 
the choice to opt-in for the five-year period commencing in April 2018. 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 13



 

1.2 PSAA have now been confirmed in the role of appointing person for 
principal local government and police bodies for audits from 2023/24 and 
have, once again, invited the Council to “opt in” to the national scheme. 
The decision to “opt in” must be made by full Council by 11 March 2022. 
 

2 Proposal 

2.1 It is proposed that full Council opt into the PSAA sector-led national 
scheme to appoint a local auditor to audit the Council’s accounts from 
2023/24 to 2027/28.  This considered to be the best option for Gedling to 
ensure the independent appointment of an appropriately skilled external 
audit service for the best price, and it is expected that the majority, if not 
all, of the authorities within Nottinghamshire will adopt this approach. 
 

3 Alternative Options 

3.1 There are three broad options open to the Council under the Act: 

 Option 1: to make a stand-alone appointment; 

 Option 2: to set up a joint Auditor Panel / local joint procurement 
arrangement; 

 Option 3: to opt-in to the PSAA’s sector-led national scheme. 

Stand-Alone Appointment 

3.2 In order to make a stand-alone appointment the Council would need to set 
up an Auditor Panel.  The members of the Auditor Panel must be wholly 
or a majority of independent members as defined by the Act.  Independent 
members for this purpose are independent appointees, and this excludes 
current and former elected members or officers, and their close families 
and friends. 
 

3.3 However, the recruitment and servicing of the Auditor Panel, running the 
bidding exercise and negotiating the contract is estimated to cost in the 
region of £15,000 plus ongoing expenses and allowances.  The Council 
will not be able to take advantage of reduced fees that may be available 
through joint or national procurement contracts. The assessment of bids 
and decision on awarding contracts will be taken by independent 
appointees and not solely by elected members to ensure the 
independence of the auditor appointment. 
 
 
 

Page 88



Joint Auditor Panel 

3.4 The Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a 
Joint Auditor Panel. Again this would need to be constituted of wholly or a 
majority of independent appointees.  Further legal advice would be 
required on the exact constitution of such a panel having regard to the 
obligations of each Council under the Act and the Council would need to 
liaise with other local authorities to assess the appetite for such an 
arrangement. 
 

3.5 The costs of setting up the Joint Auditor Panel, running the bidding 
exercise and negotiating the contracts, would be shared across a number 
of authorities and there would be greater opportunity for negotiating some 
economies of scale by being able to offer a larger combined contract value 
to the firms. 
 

3.6 However, the decision making body would be further removed from local 
input, with potentially no input from elected members where a wholly 
independent Joint Auditor Panel is used or possibly only one elected 
member representing each Council, depending on the constitution agreed 
with the other bodies involved.  The choice of auditor could be complicated 
where individual Councils have independence issues i.e. where the 
auditor has recently or is currently carrying out work such as consultancy 
or advisory work for the Council.  Where this occurs some auditors may 
be prevented from being appointed by the terms of their professional 
standards.  There is also a risk that if the Joint Auditor Panel choose a 
firm that is conflicted for this Council, then the Council may still need to 
make a stand-alone appointment. Finally, this option would require other 
bodies to participate. As set out in 1.1, 98% of eligible bodies are presently 
“opted-in” to the sector-led national scheme. 
 
PSAA Sector-Led National Scheme 

3.7 The PSAA sector-led national scheme has the ability to negotiate 
contracts with the audit firms nationally and thus maximise the 
opportunities for the most economic and efficient approach to 
procurement of external audit on behalf of the whole sector.  
 

3.8 The costs of setting up the appointment arrangements and negotiating 
fees are shared across all opted-in authorities and by offering large 
contract values the audit firms would be able to offer better rates and lower 
fees than are likely to result from local negotiation. Any conflicts at 
individual authorities are managed by the PSAA who have a number of 
contracted firms to call upon and the appointment process is not ceded to 
locally appointed, independent members. Further benefits from this 
approach are set out in Appendix A.  
 

Page 89



3.9 In the event that the Council agrees to “opt in” to this approach, the PSAA 
will appoint the local auditor on the Council’s behalf and will set the scale 
of fees for the audit of the accounts for each financial year. Any opt in will 
apply for the five financial years beginning on 1 April 2023.  

  

4 Financial Implications 

4.1 The Council’s revenue budget includes provision for the external audit fee. 
This would be amended as necessary depending upon the outcome of the 
procurement exercise to be undertaken by the PSAA. 

4.2 Opting-in to a PSAA sector-led national scheme provides maximum 
opportunity to limit the extent of any fee increases by entering into a large 
scale collective procurement arrangement and would remove the costs of 
establishing an Auditor Panel. 

5 Legal Implications 

5.1 It is a statutory requirement for the annual accounts of local authorities 
such as this Council to be audited as set out in the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 (the Act). This relates to both the Council’s 
accounting records and Statement of Accounts. 

5.2 As set out in the attached appendix, the PSAA will undertake a major 
procurement exercise on behalf of those authorities that “opt-in” to the 
sector-led national scheme to appoint external auditors and subsequently 
manage the contracts set up on behalf of participating authorities.  

5.3 The authority for the PSAA to fulfil this duty has been confirmed by the 
Secretary of State at the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities. 

6 Equalities Implications 

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising directly from this report. 

7 Carbon Reduction/Environmental Sustainability Implications 

7.1 There are no direct carbon reduction/environmental sustainability 
implications arising from this report. 

8 Appendices 

8.1 A – Letter from PSAA dated 22 September 2021 including information on 
the sector-led national scheme. 

9 Background Papers 

Page 90



9.1 None. 

 

Statutory Officer approval 
 
Approved by Chief Financial Officer  
Date: 8 November 2021  
 
 
Approved by Monitoring Officer  
Date: 8 November 2021  
 

 
 
 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Monday 6 September 2021 

 
Councillor Liz Clunie (Chair) 

 
Councillor Sandra Barnes 
Councillor Michael Boyle 
Councillor Andrew Ellwood 
Councillor Mike Hope 

Councillor Barbara Miller 
Councillor Simon Murray 
Councillor Marje Paling 
Councillor Paul Wilkinson 

 

Apologies for absence: Councillor Paul Feeney, Councillor Jennifer 
Hemingway, Councillor Martin Smith and Councillor 
Sam Smith 

Officers in Attendance: A Davey and A Dubberley 

Guests in Attendance Councillor Peter Barnes 

 
8    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors Feeney, 
Hemingway, Martin Smith and Sam Smith. Councillor Miller attended as 
substitute. 
 

9    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 5 JULY 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

10    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  
 
Councillor Sandra Barnes declared a personal interest in Items 4 and 6 
as the spouse of the Portfolio Holder for the Environment.  
 

11    PROGRAMME OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER ATTENDANCE  
 
Members welcomed Councillor Peter Barnes to the meeting to examine 
the Environment Portfolio. 
 
No questions or areas of concerned had been notified in advance of the 
meeting so Councillor Barnes started by paying tribute to the hard work 
and dedication of the Council’s refuse crews who had been delivering a 
consistent service throughout the covid-19 pandemic. He added that the 
team was aware of the high numbers of missed bin collections, which 

Page 93

Agenda Item 14a



 

were often due to blocked streets, and steps to address this were 
underway. 
 
With the climate change agenda in mind, Councillor Barnes also 
acknowledged that that steps needed to be taken to make the Council’s 
fleet more environmentally friendly, although the very steep hills in the 
Borough made currently available electric vehicles unsuitable. He added 
that a national waste and recycling consultation was underway which 
would lead to future changes in waste operations and officers awaited 
the outcome of this. 
 
Specifically on recycling rates, Members commented on the difficulty in 
comparing recycling rates with other areas, particularly where other 
areas may be more affluent. 
 

Councillor Murray joined the meeting. 
 
Further to the comments made on missed bins, the issue of missed bins 
due to cars blocking streets was discussed. The Director of 
Environment, Communities and Leisure added that the issue was 
currently having a negative effect on the council’s operations as crews 
were having to return on a different day. There were plans in place to 
introduce a system of being able to warn registered keepers of vehicles 
which may lead to a fixed penalty for vehicles that persistently blocked 
roads. Work was also ongoing with the county council to look at parking 
controls for some streets where this was appropriate 
 
The issue of HGV driver shortages was discussed. Officers were 
keeping this under review but currently Gedling was not being negatively 
affected. 
 
The Committee next went on to discuss the report from the Waste 
Working Group and the draft waste policy and the Committee was given 
an overview of proposed the Policy and the work undertaken by the 
group. The Committee welcomed the draft policy as a useful clarification 
of the rules and expectations around household waste. 
 
Specifically within the policy, concern was expressed about 
replacement/new black bins being 180 litres rather than 240. The 
rationale for this was to encourage more recycling but the Council would 
always consider requests for larger bins where there was a large family, 
a medical reason or other exceptional reasons as set out in the draft 
policy. 
 
Members next discussed the November agenda and specifically the 
areas that they would like to scrutinise in respect of the Public Protection 
portfolio. The meeting would also provide the opportunity for the 
Committee to carry out its statutory duty to examine the Local 
Community Safety Partnership. 
It was decided to concentrate on the following areas/questions: 

Page 94



 

 

 To seek an overview of crime statistics in the Borough 
 

 Examine CCTV provision, specifically issues around what the 
council is and isn’t allowed to use it for, what more could be done 
if additional cameras were installed and how, if at all, the use of 
CCTV changed in the covid-19 pandemic 

 

 What further training could be offered to members on 
safeguarding issues? 

 

 What was the effect of the increase in drug related crime and so 
called county lines crime? 

 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Thank Councillor Barnes for his attendance and the information 
provided; 
 

2) Refer the work done by the Waste Policy Working Group, and the 
draft policy, to the October meeting of Cabinet; and 
 

3) Put forward the topics as discussed to the November agenda for 
scrutiny of the Crime and Disorder Partnership/Public Protection 
portfolio area. 

 
12    GEDLING PLAN QUARTER 4 AND YEAR END PERFORMANCE 

REPORT  
 
The Director for Environment, Communities and Leisure introduced a 
report, which had been circulated in advance of the meeting, 
summarising performance information for the 2020/21 year. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the information 
 

13    SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME  
 
During discussion of the work programme the following items were 
covered: 
 

 The Committee was pleased with the Cabinet response to the 
Domestic Violence working group report. Cabinet was receptive 
to the working group recommendations. 

 

 Members noted the information provided about AED provision 
and that this would be brought back to a future meeting. 

 

Page 95



 

 A suggestion to examine health provision in the Borough was put 
forward. It was decided to establish a working group starting in 
January to examine specifically what impacts Gedling could have 
on health services, particularly the idea of an integrated health set 
up following the successful use of the Richard Herod Centre as a 
vaccination venue. The issue of GP access was felt to be of 
importance to residents but it was recognised that the Borough 
Council could have very little impact on this. 

 

 It was agreed to invite Councillor Hollingsworth to the March 
meeting to examine the Growth and Regeneration Portfolio and 
Councillor Wheeler to the January meeting for the Health and 
Wellbeing Portfolio. 

 

 At future meetings in the spring, it was decided to ask for the 
emerging procurement strategy to be scrutinised in committee. 
Data on compliments and complaints would also be looked at. 

 

 A final working group, to take place in the spring, would be 
established to examine the climate change agenda and Carbon 
Reduction Strategy. By this time the Climate Change Officer 
would be in post, so this would be a useful exercise to check on 
progress. 

 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Note that the Waste Policy Working Group report had been 
discussed as part of item 4 of the agenda; 
 

2) Note the information provided in relation to AEDs; 
 

3) Note the Executive response to the final recommendations of the 
Domestic Abuse Working Group; 

 
4) Establish working groups on health provision and carbon 

reduction as discussed; and 
 

5) Include examination of the Health and Wellbeing and Growth and 
Regeneration Portfolios, Procurement Strategy and Customer 
Complaints and compliments on this year’s work programme. 

 
14    REPORTS AND NOTICES RECEIVED BY THE CHAIR OF 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AS REQUIRED UNDER 
THE CONSTITUTION OR LAW  
 
Members considered a report, which had been of the circulated in 
advance of the meeting, which included information on items referred to 
the chair as required in the constitution. 
 
RESOLVED to: 

Page 96



 

 
Note the information. 
 

15    ANY OTHER ITEM WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  
 
None. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 6.50 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES 
ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
Tuesday 7 September 2021 

 
Councillor Marje Paling (Chair) 

 
Present: Councillor Nicki Brooks 

Councillor Pat Bosworth 
Councillor Des Gibbons 
Councillor Julie Najuk 

Councillor Sam Smith 
Councillor John Truscott 
Councillor Paul Wilkinson 

 

Absent: Councillor Roxanne Ellis, Councillor Martin Smith and 
Councillor Clive Towsey-Hinton 

Officers in Attendance: L Chaplin, A Dubberley, P Gibbs and K Nealon 

 
25    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Roxanne Ellis, 
Martin Smith and Towsey-Hinton. 
 

26    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  
 
None. 
 

27    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 10 AUGUST 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

28    UPDATE ON PAVEMENT LICENSES UNDER THE BUSINESS AND 
PLANNING ACT 2020  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Community Protection 
Manager, which had been circulated in advance of the meeting, updating 
Members on the extension of the pavement licensing regime under the 
Business and Planning Act 2020.  
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Note the content of the report and the statutory obligations of 
Local Authorities under the Business and Planning Act 2020; and 

 
2) Agree to introduce an application fee of £100 for pavement café 

licence applications with immediate effect. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 14b



 

 
29    ANY OTHER ITEM WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  

 
None. 
 

30    EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That, the Members being satisfied that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information 
that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting during the consideration 
of the ensuing reports on the grounds that the report involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 7 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

31    CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCE OF JOINT HACKNEY CARRIAGE / 
PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS LICENCE (CW)  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Corporate Director of 
Environment, Communities and Leisure, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, regarding a change of circumstances following 
information received about the holder of a Joint Hackney Carriage/ 
Private Hire Driver’s Licence.  
 
CW attended the meeting and addressed the Committee. CW had 
provided a written explanation of the circumstances leading to his 
appearance before the Committee.  
 
In making its decision, the Committee found that there were exceptional 
mitigating circumstances surrounding the offences which allowed for 
departure from the Council’s approved Policy and Guidelines. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 
Issue a warning to CW that such conduct fell short of the expected 
standard for Hackney Carriage Drivers and that further such incidents 
would result in another appearance before the Committee. 
 

32    APPLICATION FOR A ONE YEAR JOINT HACKNEY CARRIAGE / 
PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS LICENCE (SH)  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Corporate Director of 
Environment, Communities and Leisure, which had been circulated prior 
to the meeting, regarding an application for a one year joint Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire Driver’s Licence for SH.  
 
SH attended the meeting and addressed the committee. 
 

Page 100



 

In making the decision the Committee applied the Council’s approved 
Policy and Guidelines. 
 
RESOLVED to:  
 

1) Approve SH’s application for a one year Joint Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire Driver’s Licence; and 

 
2) Issue a warning that the applicant should ensure that all 

necessary paperwork is presented correctly when applying for 
future licences. 

 
33    APPLICATION FOR A ONE YEAR JOINT HACKNEY CARRIAGE / 

PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS LICENCE (SPS)  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Corporate Director of 
Environment, Communities and Leisure, which had been circulated prior 
to the meeting, regarding an application for a one year joint Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire Driver’s Licence for SPS.  
 
SPS attended the meeting and addressed the committee. 
 
The Committee found that there had been no change in the applicant’s 
circumstances since his last appearance in July where his licence was 
revoked. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To refuse SPS’s application for a Joint Hackney Carriage/Private Hire 
Driver’s Licence. 
 
SPS was advised of the right of appeal against the decision of the 
Committee. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 6.10 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

MINUTES 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
Wednesday 8 September 2021 

 
Councillor John Truscott (Chair) 

 
In Attendance: Councillor Paul Wilkinson 

Councillor Michael Adams 
Councillor Peter Barnes 
Councillor Chris Barnfather 
Councillor David Ellis 
Councillor Andrew Ellwood 
Councillor Rosa Keneally 

Councillor Meredith Lawrence 
Councillor Ron McCrossen 
Councillor Barbara Miller 
Councillor Marje Paling 
Councillor John Parr 
Councillor Alex Scroggie 
Councillor Henry Wheeler 

 

Absent: Councillor Mike Hope 

Officers in 
Attendance: 

M Avery, N Bryan, K Cartwright, S Fayaz and C Goodall 

 
32    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Hope. 
 

33    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 28 JULY 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

34    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
The Chair declared a collective non-pecuniary interest in item 7 on the 
agenda as the land was in the ownership of Gedling Borough Council. 
 

35    APPLICATION NO. 2021/0238 - 19 THACKERAYS LANE, 
WOODTHORPE  
 
The Principal Planning Officer introduced the report.  He advised 
members that further to the publication of the report a late objection had 
been received from a neighbouring resident in relation to concerns 
around parents parking on the footpath, vehicles facing oncoming traffic 
and parents not utilising the nearby pedestrian crossing.  However, 
these concerns raised no new issues and were covered within the main 
report.  

Page 103

Agenda Item 14c



 

The Principal Planning Officer added that additional comments had been 
sought from the Highways Authority in relation to parking and gave the 
following update: 
Parking could not be formalised on the footway outside the site, as 
parking in that location would be illegal and a matter for the Police 
Authority.  Parking on the highway was allowed, but they would not wish 
to have designated parking bays outside the facility as the highway itself 
was available for the public and all users. There was a car park further 
down Thackeray’s Lane and on street parking within the area. They 
accepted that Thackeray’s Lane was a busy road, and at times traffic 
was heavy, but they had not received any recent parking complaints or 
reports of severe congestion in the area and therefore they had no 
concerns in relation to the scheme. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To Grant Planning Permission subject to conditions: 
 
 
Conditions 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 
 2 This permission shall be read in accordance with the application 

form and deposited plans, drawing no's RDS11563/07(a), 
RDS11563/05(c) and RDS11563/01(_), received on 9th March 
2021, and drawing no. RDS11563/06(d) received on 2nd August 
2021. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in 
accordance with these plans/details. 

 
 3 The day nursery shall have no more than 48 children in their care 

on-site at any one time. 
 

Reasons 
 
 1 In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 2 For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 3 To ensure a satisfactory development in accordance with the 

aims of policy LPD 32 of the Local Planning Document. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
It is considered the proposal would be visually acceptable and in 
keeping with the character of the host property and the wider area, it 
would not result in a significant undue impact on residential amenity and 

Page 104



 

it would be acceptable from a highway safety perspective; in accordance 
with the NPPF Section 12, Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy and 
policies LPD 32, LPD 57 and LPD 61 of the Local Planning Document 
 
Notes to Applicant 
 
Positive and Proactive Statement - The Borough Council has worked 
positively and proactively with the applicant in accordance with 
paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Negotiations 
have taken place during the consideration of the application to address 
adverse impacts identified by officers and/or address concerns raised by 
letters of representation submitted in connection with the proposal, 
addressing the identified adverse impacts, thereby resulting in a more 
acceptable scheme and a favourable recommendation. 
 
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 
16th October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL). Full details of CIL are available on the Council's website. The 
proposed development has been assessed and it is the Council's view 
that CIL is not payable on the development hereby approved as the 
development type proposed is zero rated in this location. 
 
An appropriate measure to help alleviate residents' difficulties with 
vehicle access / egress to properties can be the provision of advisory 'H 
bar markings' and these can be provided in line with the County 
Council's charging policy on request from the applicant/owner/occupier 
of Coteswood Nursery.  Requests can be made through 
Nottinghamshire County Council's customer service teams on 0115 500 
80 80 or via https://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/contact-and-
complaints/contact-us/contact-us. Please note that the applicant will 
need to liaise with the owner/occupier of no’s 17 and 21 to agree that the 
application can be made, and all costs are to be borne by the 
applicant/owner/occupier of Coteswood Nursery. 
 
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may 
contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining 
feature is encountered during development, this should be reported 
immediately to The Coal Authority on 0845 762   6848. Further 
information is also available on The Coal Authority website at 
www.coal.decc.gov.uk.Property specific summary information on past, 
current and future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal 
Authority's Property Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at 
www.groundstability.com. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105

https://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/contact-and-complaints/contact-us/contact-us
https://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/contact-and-complaints/contact-us/contact-us


 

36    APPLICATION NO. 2021/0737 - 96 PLAINS ROAD, MAPPERLEY  
 
Erection of 9 dwellings. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer introduced the report, which identified that 
a contribution of £17,635 was targeted to be spent at the park on the 
corner of Bailey Drive and Plains Road.  He added that as this area of 
public open space remained under the control of a private company, that 
rather than explicitly identifying that the money would be spent on this 
park, as it might not be possible to reach agreement with the site owner, 
it was requested that the wording of the legal agreement identified that 
the money be spent in the locality, in accordance with the Open Space 
Supplementary Planning Document.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To Grant Planning Permission: Subject to the owner(s) entering into 
planning obligations with the Borough Council as Local Planning 
Authority for a financial contribution towards off-site public open space 
and the provision of a management company for maintenance of access 
roads and areas of on-site open space not within the curtilages; and 
subject to the conditions listed for the reasons set out in the report:  
 
 
1. The development herby permitted shall commence before the 

expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission. 
 
2. This permission shall be read in accordance with the application 

form and following list of approved drawings:  
21/402-02D - site layout 
 
21/402-A01_A - housetype A elevations plot 1 
21/402-A02_A - housetype A floor plans plot 1 
21/402-A03 - housetype A elevations plot 2 
21/402-A04 - housetype A floor plans plot 2 
21/402-B01 - housetype B 
21/402-C01 - housetype C 
21/402-D01 - housetype D 
21/402-E01 - housetype E elevations 
21/402-E02 - housetype E floor plans 

 
21/402-G01_A - detached garage 

 
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance 
with these plans/details. 

 
3. No above ground works shall commence until samples of external 

facing and roofing materials to be used in the erection of the 
dwellings have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Page 106



 

Local Planning Authority.  Development shall thereafter be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
4. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 

out the approved development it must be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority and once the Local 
Planning Authority has identified the part of the site affected by 
the unexpected contamination development must be halted on 
that part of the site.  
An assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Planning Authority, and where 
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme, together with a 
timetable for its implementation and verification reporting, must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
 
5. Prior to commencement of the development a Construction 

Emission Management Plan (CEMP) for minimising the emission 
of dust and other emissions to air during the site preparation and 
construction shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The CEMP must be prepared with due 
regard to the guidance produced by the Council on the 
assessment of dust from demolition and construction and include 
a site specific dust risk assessment.  All works on site shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved CEMP. 

 
6. From the date of first occupation every property built on the site 

with one or more dedicated vehicle parking spaces and/or a 
garage shall be provided with access to an electric vehicle (EV) 
charge point. Charge points must have a minimum power rating 
output of 7kW on a dedicated circuit, capable of providing a safe 
overnight charge to an electric vehicle. 
All EV charging points shall meet relevant safety and accessibility 
requirements and be clearly marked with their purpose; which 
should be drawn to the attention of new residents in their new 
home welcome pack / travel planning advice. 

 
7. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme of 

landscaping showing the location, species and size of specimens 
to be planted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The scheme as approved shall be 
carried out in the first planting season following the completion of 
each development phase. Any trees, shrubs or plants that die 
within a period of five years from the completion of each 
development phase, or are removed and/or become seriously 
damaged or diseased in that period, shall be replaced (and if 
necessary continue to be replaced) in the first available planting 
season with others of similar size and species. 

 

Page 107



 

8. No part of the development shall be commenced until details of 
the existing and proposed ground and finished floor levels of the 
site and approved building(s) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall be carried out thereafter in accordance with 
the approved details. 

 
9. No development shall be commenced until details of the means of 

foul drainage and surface water disposal have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall be carried out thereafter in accordance with 
the approved details. 

 
10. Prior to the commencement of development, a Landscape and 

Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
document shall, where possible, identify compliance with the 
recommendations contained in the preliminary ecological 
appraisal submitted in support of the application. 

 
11. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling, the parking spaces for 

that dwelling shall be made available for use and be retained as 
such thereafter. 

 
12. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into 

use until the access drive and footways are constructed and 
surfaced in a hard-bound material (not loose gravel).The surfaced 
access drive and footways shall then be maintained in such hard-
bound material for the life of the development. 

 
13. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into 

use until the access and footways are constructed with a gradient 
not exceeding 1 in 30 for a distance of 10m from the rear of the 
highway boundary, and never exceeds 1:15 thereafter, in 
accordance with drawing no. 21/402-02D. 

 
14 No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought 

into use until the access driveway / parking / turning area (s) is 
constructed with provision to prevent the unregulated discharge 
of surface water from the driveway/parking/turning area(s) to the 
public highway in accordance with details first submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA. The provision to prevent the 
unregulated discharge of surface water to the public highway 
shall then be retained for the life of the development. 

 
15. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into 

use until the bin store has been constructed and positioned in 
accordance with drawing number 21/402-02D. 

 

Page 108



 

Reasons 

 
 
1. To comply with the requirements of Section 91(1) of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
2. For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
3. To ensure that the character of the area is respected and to 

comply with policy ACS10 of the Aligned Core Strategy. 
 
4. To ensure that if any unexpected contamination is found it is fully 

investigated and to comply with policy LPD7. 
 
5. To ensure the development is constructed in an appropriate 

sustainable manner which takes into consideration air quality with 
in the Borough, and takes into consideration the National 
Planning Policy Framework and policy LPD11 of the Councils 
Local Plan. 

 
6. To ensure the development is constructed in an appropriate 

sustainable manner which takes into consideration air quality with 
in the Borough, and takes into consideration the National 
Planning Policy Framework and policy LPD11 of the Councils 
Local Plan. 

 
7. To ensure that the development assimilated within the green 

landscape and to comply with policies LPD18 and LPD19. 
 
8. To ensure that the character of the area and residential amenity is 

respected and to comply with policy LPD32. 
 
9. To ensure that the site is adequately drained and to comply with 

policy LPD4. 
 
10. To ensure compliance with policies LPD18 and ACS17. 
 
11. To ensure adequate parking provision is provided and to comply 

with policy LPD57. 
 
12. To ensure adequate access to the properties and to comply with 

policy LPD61. 
 
13. To ensure adequate access to the properties and to comply with 

policy LPD61. 
 
14. To ensure surface water from the site is not deposited on the 

public highway causing dangers to road users and to comply with 
policy LPD61. 

 

Page 109



 

15 To enable the bins to be collected by the refuse team on 
collection day and to comply with policy LPD61. 

 
 
Notes to Applicant 
 
The developer is encouraged to consider upgrading the EV charging 
facilities to incorporate mode 3 charging capability as this will help future 
proof the development and improve its sustainability. A suitable electrical 
socket can be provided to allow 'Mode 3' charging of an electric vehicle, 
allowing Smart charging of electric vehicles.  
All electrical circuits/installations shall comply with the electrical 
requirements of BS7671:2008 as well as conform to the IET code of 
practice on Electrical Vehicle Charging Equipment installation (2015). 
 
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may 
contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining 
feature is encountered during development, this should be reported 
immediately to The Coal Authority on 0845 762 6848. Further 
information is also available on The Coal Authority website at 
www.coal.decc.gov.uk.Property specific summary information on past, 
current and future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal 
Authority's Property Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at 
www.groundstability.com. 
 
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 
16th October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL). Full details of CIL are available on the Council's website.  
 
The proposed development has been assessed and it is the Council's 
view that CIL IS PAYABLE on the development hereby approved as is 
detailed below.  Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and 
process for payment will be set out in the Regulation 65 Liability Notice 
which will be sent to you as soon as possible after this decision notice 
has been issued.  If the development hereby approved is for a self-build 
dwelling, residential extension or residential annex you may be able to 
apply for relief from CIL.  Further details about CIL are available on the 
Council's website or from the Planning Portal: 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosub
mit/cil 
 
Please note that the grant of planning permission does not override civil 
legal matters in respect of development on or over a boundary or in 
respect of access to third party land, advice on which should be sought 
from a suitably qualified solicitor or surveyor. 
 
Please note that this grant of planning permission does not override the 
need to comply with the Wildlife and Countryside Act. 

Page 110



 

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use 
until the extended footway and access has been fully constructed under 
s278 agreement.  
 
In order to carry out the off-site works required you will be undertaking 
work in the public highway which is land subject to the provisions of the 
Highways Act 1980 (as amended) and therefore land over which you 
have / no control. In order to undertake the works, you will need to enter 
into an agreement under Section 278 of the Act. Please contact 
hdc.south@nottscc.gov.uk for details. 
Planning Statement - The Borough Council has worked positively and 
proactively with the applicant in accordance with paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021). Negotiations have taken 
place during the determination of the application to address adverse 
impacts identified by officers. Amendments have subsequently been 
made to the proposal, addressing the identified adverse impacts, 
thereby resulting in a more acceptable scheme and a favourable 
recommendation. 
 
 

37    APPLICATION NO. 2021/0727 - FAIRACRE AND 335 MAPPERLEY 
PLAINS, ARNOLD  
 
Reserved Matters Application – Appearance and Landscaping – in 
relation to outline permission ref. 2017/1276 for 11 dwellings. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer introduced the report.  He informed 
Members of a ‘typo’ in paragraph 2.2 of the report on page 55 which in-
correctly identified what was considered at the outline stage.  He added 
that for the avoidance of doubt the proposal was a reserved matters 
application made pursuant to outline permission 2017/1276, that the 
outline access, layout and scale were approved and as a result the only 
matters under consideration for this application were appearance and 
landscaping. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Borough Council Grant Reserved Matters Approval subject to 
the following conditions:-  
 
Conditions 
 
 1 This permission shall be read in accordance with the application 

form,  Design and Access Statement and following list of 
approved drawings deposited on the 8th June 2021:-Site Location 
Plan; House Type A1 (drg no. MP-21-P101); House Type A1 (drg 
no. MP-21-P102); House Type B (drg no. MP-21-P103); House 
Type C1 (drg no. MP-21-P104); House Type C2 ((drg no. MP-21-
P105); House Type D1 (drg no. MP-21-P106); House Type D2 
(drg no. MP-21-P107): and revised Landscaping Plan (drg no.  

Page 111

mailto:hdc.south@nottscc.gov.uk


 

MP-21-P108 Rev C) deposited on the 23rd August 2021. The 
development thereafter shall be undertaken in accordance with 
these approved plans and details. 

 
 2 The landscaping scheme as shown on the Landscaping Plan (drg 

no.  MP-21-P108 Rev C) deposited on the 23rd August 2021 
hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with 
the approved details in the first planting season following the 
completion of the development. Any trees, shrubs or plants that 
die within a period of five years from the completion of the 
development, or are removed and/or become seriously damaged 
or diseased in that period, shall be replaced (and if necessary 
continue to be replaced) in the first available planting season with 
others of similar size and species. 

 
 3 No above ground works shall commence until samples of external 

facing and roofing materials to the dwellings and brick work to the 
proposed boundary walls have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reasons 
 
 1 For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 2 In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the aims of 

Policy 10 of the ACS, and Policy LPD 32, Policy LPD 35 Policy 
and LPD 40 of the LPD. 

 
 3 In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the aims of 

Policy 10 of the ACS, and Policy LPD 32, Policy LPD 35 and 
Policy LPD 40 of the LPD. 

 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The principle of the development has been established following the 
grant of outline permission (2017/1276). Access, layout and scale have 
already been approved under the aforementioned outline permission. 
With regards to layout and appearance submitted as this Reserved 
Matters application it is considered that the appearance of the proposed 
dwellings is acceptable in terms of design and materials and the 
proposed landscaping strategy is acceptable. The proposal therefore 
accords with Section 12 of the NPPF, Policy 10 of the ACS, Policy LPD 
32, Policy LPD 35 and Policy LPD 40 of the LPD 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



 

Notes to Applicant 
 
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 
16th October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL). Full details of CIL are available on the Council's website. The 
proposed development has been assessed and it is the Council's view 
that CIL IS PAYABLE on the development hereby approved as is 
detailed below.  Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and 
process for payment will be set out in the Regulation 65 Liability Notice 
which will be sent to you as soon as possible after this decision notice 
has been issued.  If the development hereby approved is for a self-build 
dwelling, residential extension or residential annex you may be able to 
apply for relief from CIL.  Further details about CIL are available on the 
Council's website or from the Planning Portal: 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosub
mit/cil 
 
The Borough Council has worked positively and proactively with the 
applicant in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021). Negotiations have taken place during the 
determination of the application to address adverse impacts identified by 
officers. Amendments have subsequently been made to the proposal, 
addressing the identified adverse impacts, thereby resulting in a more 
acceptable scheme and a favourable recommendation. 
 
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may 
contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining 
feature is encountered during development, this should be reported 
immediately to The Coal Authority on 0845 762 6848. Further 
information is also available on The Coal Authority website at 
www.coal.decc.gov.uk.Property specific summary information on past, 
current and future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal 
Authority's Property Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at 
www.groundstability.com. 
 
 
 

38    APPLICATION NO. 2021/0240 - BURNTSTUMP COUNTRY PARK, 
LOWER CAR PARK, BURNTSTUMP HILL  
 
Alterations to existing car park to include fencing, security barrier, 
surfacing and footway to adjoining Police HQ. 
 
The Chair informed Members of a typo on page 67 para 7.16 which 
incorrectly stated that the proposal failed to accord with section 12 of the 
NPPF, whereas it should have stated that the proposal was in 
accordance the NPPF and not contrary. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer introduced the report. 
 

Page 113



 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the Borough Council Grant Planning Permission subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
Conditions 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 
 2 The development hereby approved shall be completed in 

accordance with the following submitted documents and plans :- 
 

Received on the 10th March 2021 - Application form; Tree Survey 
statement produced by Landscape Science Consultancy General 
Arrangement (Excluding the route of ductwork) 
 
Received 25th June 2021 - Lighting Details drg. no. 
2006025MHGCPB dated 08.03.2021Received 27th August 2021 
Tree Protection Plan dated 21st July 2021 (excluding the route of 
ductwork) 
 
Received 23rd August 2021 - Position of lighting and CCTV 
columns and route of ductwork drg no. 2006023MHGCPB dated 
08/03/2021; Lamp Head Details  - KENO Flat to Ground LED 
Luminaire (height of column confirmed as being 7m by email 
dated 23rd August 2021); Barrier Details - Nicebar System - 
M3BAR as confirmed by email dated 23rd August 2021; CCTV 
camera Details HIKVISION - DS-2CD5A46G0-IZ(H)S (height of 
column confirmed as being 5m by email dated 23rd August 2021).  
 
The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the submitted documents.  

 
 3 Before any excavation/installation works commence on the 

proposed footpath the applicant/agent shall notify the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) giving 21 days  notice of the date of 
commencement to allow a pre commencement meeting to be 
held with a representative from the LPA in order to supervise the 
footpath installation working procedures. 

 
 4 Prior to the car park being brought into use by the applicant the 

parking spaces shall delineated in accordance with the approved 
General Arrangement Plan (excluding the details of the ductwork 
route) and shall be retained as such thereafter. 

 
 5 The barriers, CCTV columns and lighting columns shall be 

installed and maintained in accordance with the details submitted 
and layout plans drg. no 2006025MHGCPB and details deposited 
on the 23rd April 2021.   

Page 114



 

Reasons 
 
 1 In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 2 For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 3 To ensure the health of the tree is preserved. 
 
 4 For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 5 For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Whilst the application consists of inappropriate development within the 
Green Belt and the proposal would have an impact upon openness, very 
special circumstances have been provided that in the planning balance 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by virtue of its inappropriateness. 
Impact on trees adjacent to the footpath have been given consideration 
and proposed mitigation measures would be secured by condition in 
order to safeguard the health of these trees. The proposal would not 
result in any undue impact on nearby amenity, highways or parking 
issues.  On balance the proposal is in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policy 3 and 10 of the Aligned Core  
Strategy 2014, policies, LPD19, LPD32, LPD57 and LPD61 of the Local 
Planning Document 2018.  
 
Notes to Applicant 
 
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or 16th 
October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL). Full details of CIL are available on the Council's website. The 
proposed development has been assessed and it is the Council's view 
that CIL is not payable on the development given that there is no net 
additional increase of floorspace as a result of the development. 
 
Planning Statement - The Borough Council has worked positively and 
proactively with the applicant in accordance with paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 
 

39    TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 000142 - CONINGSBY GARDEN 
EAST, WOODTHORPE  
 
Protection of group of 7no. Sorbus trees by a Tree Preservation Order 

(TPO). 

 

Page 115



 

RESOLVED: 

To Confirm Tree Preservation Order - 000142 ‘Coningsby Gardens East’ 

without modifications. 

 
40    TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 000143 - LAND AT CORNER OF 

BIRCHWOOD DRIVE AND MAVIS AVENUE, RAVENSHEAD  
 
Protection of 2no. trees by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

To Confirm TPO 000143 with the following Modifications: 

- The associated Map be amended to show the correct location of 

T2 Beech tree within the curtilage of 2 Birchwood Drive, 

Ravenshead. 

 
41    FUTURE APPLICATIONS  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the information. 
 

42    PLANNING DELEGATION ACTION SHEETS  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the information. 
 

43    ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  
 
None. 
 
 

The meeting finished at 6.57 pm 
 
 

Signed by Chair:    
 

Date:   
  

Page 116



MINUTES 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
Thursday 9 September 2021 

 
Councillor Michael Boyle (Chair) 

 
Councillor Michael Payne 
Councillor Pat Bosworth 
Councillor Andrew Ellwood 

Councillor Mike Hope 
Councillor Simon Murray 
Rosalie Hawks 

 

Absent: Councillor Clive Towsey-Hinton 

Officers in Attendance: A Dubberley and F Whyley 

 
9    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies were received from Councillor Towsey-Hinton. 
 

10    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 10 JUNE 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
By way of update to minute 7, the Monitoring Officer reported that a 
reply had been received from the relevant Group Leader in respect of 
the outstanding query. 
 

11    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  
 
None. 
 

12    UPDATE ON CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW  
 
Councillor Murray joined the meeting. 
 
The Monitoring Officer introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, presenting the outcome of the consultation on 
the review of the Council‘s Code of Conduct for Members. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Note the responses to the consultation with the public and 
stakeholders on the Council’s Code of Conduct;  

 

Page 117

Agenda Item 14d



 

2) Recommend to Council that no changes be made to the Council’s 
Code of Conduct at Appendix 2 to the report; and 

 
3) Agree that a guidance document be prepared by the Monitoring 

Officer to accompany the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

13    RECRUITMENT OF A RESERVE INDEPENDENT PERSON  
 
The Monitoring Officer introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, seeking approval to recruit to the vacant 
Reserve Independent Person role. 
 
It was clarified that the term of office for the Reserve Independent 
Person would be two and a half years. This would be in line with best 
practice and give a useful overlap with the term of office for the current 
Independent Person. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Approve the commencement of a recruitment exercise to the role 
of Reserve Independent Person as detailed in the report and that 
the term of appointment shall be for two and half years; 

 
2) Note that the Interview Panel, as detailed in the report, will consist 

of Councillors Boyle, Bosworth and Elliott; and 
 

3) Delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with 
the Chair, to appoint alternative members to the Interview Panel 
should appointed members be unavailable. 

 
14    RECRUITMENT OF A CO-OPTED PARISH REPRESENTATIVE  

 
The Monitoring Officer introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, which proposed recommending to Council that 
Martyn Thorpe, Councillor for St Albans Parish Council should be co-
opted on to the Standards Committee to fill the vacant post of co-opted 
parish representative. 
 
Councillor Payne pointed out that he has worked closely in the past with 
Councillor Martin Thorpe as St Albans Parish Council is in his own 
County Division. He added that this was not a formal declaration of 
interest but included on the minutes for transparency. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Recommend to Council that Martyn Thorpe, Councillor for St 
Albans Parish Council should be co-opted on to the Standards 
Committee to fill the vacant post of co-opted parish representative 
until the next annual meeting; and 

 

Page 118



 

2) Delegate authority to the interview panel to review the 
appointment prior to the next annual meeting and recommend to 
Council whether the co-option should continue. 

 
15    CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS UPDATE  

 
The Monitoring Officer introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, informing members of complaints received 
between 10 June 2021 and 2 September 2021. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the report. 
 

16    ANY OTHER ITEM WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  
 
None. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 6.50 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES 
CABINET 

 
Thursday 16 September 2021 

 
Councillor John Clarke (Chair) 

 
Present: Councillor Michael Payne 

Councillor Peter Barnes 
Councillor David Ellis 
Councillor Gary Gregory 

Councillor Jenny Hollingsworth 
Councillor Viv McCrossen 
Councillor Henry Wheeler 

 

Officers in Attendance: M Hill, A Ball, M Cryer, A Davey, A Dubberley and 
L Widdowson 

 
32    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  

 
None. 
 

33    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 5 AUGUST 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

34    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  
 
None. 
 

35    COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) NON-PARISH 
FUNDING – CONSULTATION RESPONSE AND FUNDING 
DECISION  
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Officer introduced a report, which 
had been circulated in advance of them meeting, seeking approval to 
allocated funding for infrastructure projects as outlined in the report. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Use up to £50,000 collected from Community Infrastructure Levy Non-
Parish Neighbourhood Funding contributions towards the Green Lung 
Corridor project LIS0003; and  
 

2) Use up to £43,000 collected from Community Infrastructure Levy Non-
Parish Neighbourhood Funding contributions towards the Arnold 
Marketplace project LIS0004 

 
36    CARBON REDUCTION ACTION PLAN  

Page 121

Agenda Item 14e



 

 
The Head of Environment introduced a report, which had been circulated 
in advance of the meeting, presenting the Carbon Reduction Action Plan 
for public consultation. 
 

Councillor Barnes joined the meeting at 2:15 pm 
  
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Approve the Carbon Management Strategy and Action Plan at 
Appendix 1 to the report to go out for wider consultation as detailed in 
this report; and 

 
2) Note the work undertaken to date in relation to the actions and activities 

surrounding Carbon Management. 

 
37    FORWARD PLAN  

 
Consideration was given to a report of the Democratic Services 
Manager, which had been circulated prior to the meeting, detailing the 
Executive’s draft Forward Plan for the next four month period. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the report. 
 

38    ANY OTHER ITEMS THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  
 
None. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 2.25 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 122



 
 

MINUTES 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 
Tuesday 21 September 2021 

 
Councillor Bob Collis (Chair) 

 
Councillor Meredith Lawrence 
Councillor Liz Clunie 
Councillor Kathryn Fox 

Councillor Helen Greensmith 
Councillor Ron McCrossen 

 

Absent: Councillor Boyd Elliott 

Officers in Attendance: P Adcock, A Ball and A Dubberley 

 
8    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies had been received from Councillor Elliott. 
 

9    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 29 JUNE 2021  
 
By way of update to minute 4, the Director of Corporate Resources 
informed Members of the progress made in addressing the audit 
recommendations in respect of Commercialisation and a report was 
considered by the Senior Leadership Team recently. A full update would 
be brought to the December Committee.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1) To note the update in respect of the Commercialisation Audit; and 

 
2) That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 

approved as a correct record. 

 
10    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  

 
None. 
 

11    INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT  
 
Gurpreet Daly (BDO) introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, summarising the outcome of internal audit 
activity completed by the BDO Internal Audit Team for the period from 
June 2021 to September 2021; one advisory audit on Risk Management 
and one on Housing Benefits 
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 14f



 

RESOLVED: 
 
To note the report and the actions taken or to be taken. 
 

12    FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT CODE  
 
The Director of Corporate Resources introduced a report, which had 
been circulated in advance of the meeting, informing Members of the 
introduction of CIPFA’s Financial Management Code (the Code) as a 
framework to support good practice in local authorities by the setting of 
standards of financial management. The report outlined how it is 
considered that the Council presently adheres to this and set out details 
of proposed actions intended to ensure full compliance. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Note the introduction of the CIPFA Financial Management Code and 
that 2021/22 will be the first year for which full compliance will be 
required; 

 
2) Note the initial assessment set out in appendix 2 of the Council’s 

assessed level of compliance with the standards in the Code and the 
resulting actions required and refer it to Cabinet for approval; and 

 
3) Note that progress towards the actions identified will be monitored by 

the Audit Committee through the production and monitoring of the 
Annual Governance Statement. 

 
13    CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT SCORECARD QUARTER 1 

2021/22  
 
The Head of Finance and ICT introduced a report, which had been 
circulated in advance of the meeting, updating members on the current 
level of assurance that could be provided against each corporate risk. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Note the progress of actions identified within the Corporate Risk 
Register; and 
 

2) Thank officers for their hard work in keeping the risks well managed. 

 
14    ANY OTHER ITEM WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  

 
None. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 6.10 pm 
 
 

Page 124



 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES 
ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
Tuesday 5 October 2021 

 
Councillor Marje Paling (Chair) 

 
Present: Councillor Nicki Brooks 

Councillor Rachael Ellis 
Councillor Roxanne Ellis 
Councillor Des Gibbons 

Councillor Alex Scroggie 
Councillor Martin Smith 
Councillor Clive Towsey-Hinton 
Councillor Paul Wilkinson 

 

Absent: Councillor Pat Bosworth, Councillor Julie Najuk and 
Councillor Sam Smith 

Officers in Attendance: L Chaplin, A Dubberley, B Hopewell and R Pentlow 

 
34    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bosworth, Najuk 
and Sam Smith. Councillor Rachael Ellis attended as substitute. 
 

35    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 7 SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

36    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  
 
None. 
 

37    ANY OTHER ITEM WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  
 
None. 
 

38    EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That, the Members being satisfied that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information 
that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting during the consideration 
of the ensuing reports on the grounds that the report involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 7 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Page 127

Agenda Item 14g



 

 
39    APPLICATION FOR A ONE YEAR HACKNEY CARRIAGE/PRIVATE 

HIRE DRIVERS LICENCE - AAC  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Corporate Director of 
Environment, Communities and Leisure, which had been circulated prior 
to the meeting, regarding an application for a one year joint Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire Driver’s Licence for AAC. 
 
AAC attended the meeting and addressed the Committee. 
 
In making the decision the Committee applied the Council’s approved 
Policy and Guidelines. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 
Approve AAC’s application for a one year Joint Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire Driver’s Licence. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 4.35 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 128



MINUTES 
APPOINTMENTS AND CONDITIONS OF SERVICE COMMITTEE 

 
Wednesday 6 October 2021 

 
Councillor John Clarke (Chair) 

 
Councillor Michael Payne 
Councillor Sandra Barnes 
Councillor Chris Barnfather 

Councillor Meredith Lawrence 
Councillor Marje Paling 
Councillor Martin Smith 

 

Absent: Councillor Michael Adams, Councillor Bob Collis and 
Councillor Sam Smith 

Officers in Attendance: D Archer, A Dubberley, M Hill and B Hopewell 

 
1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Adams, Collis 
and Sam Smith. Councillors Barnfather, Lawrence and Martin Smith 
attended as substitutes. 
 

2    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 1 APRIL 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

3    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  
 
None. 
 

4    COMMENCEMENT OF RECRUITMENT TO THE POST OF 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITIES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
LEISURE  
 
The Chief Executive introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, seeking approval to commence the recruitment 
process following the resignation of the current Corporate Director of 
Environment, Communities and Leisure. 
 
Following discussion, Councillor Barnfather, seconded by Councillor 
Martin Smith, proposed a motion to amend the composition of the sub 
group charged with operational aspects of the process so that it would 
comprise Councillors Clarke, Payne and Adams. The amendment was 
put to a vote and not supported. 
 

Page 129

Agenda Item 14h



 

A second alternative motion was proposed by Councillor Payne, and 
seconded by Councillor Clarke, to require the sub group consisting of 
Councillor Clarke and Payne to consult all other members of the 
committee at the stages of the recruitment process detailed in the report 
prior to interview. The amendment was put to a vote and was supported. 
 
Members proposed an additional recommendation to ask the Chief 
Executive to ensure that any appropriate lessons could be learned 
following the exit interview of the current post holder. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Note the departure of the current Corporate Director of Environment, 
Communities and Leisure; 

 
2) Support the proposal to begin an external recruitment exercise; 

 
3) Establish a sub-group of the Committee comprising Councillors John 

Clarke and Michael Payne as the Chair and Vice-Chair of the 
Committee, in consultation with members of the committee present 
today, to manage the operational aspects of the process on behalf of 
the full committee in respect of: 

 
a. Drafting and placing of a job advert 
b. Shortlisting of candidates to attend interview 
c. Determining a format for interview and testing 
d. Setting of interview questions 

 
4) Agree the indicative timescale for the process; 

 
5) Note that the final interview and selection decision will be taken by the 

full Committee; and 

 
6) Request that the Chief Executive ensures that any appropriate lessons 

are learned following the exit interview of the current post holder. 

 
5    ANY OTHER ITEM WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  

 
None. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 10.40 am 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 130



MINUTES 
LICENSING ACT COMMITTEE 

 
Tuesday 5 October 2021 

 
Councillor Marje Paling (Chair) 

 
Councillor Nicki Brooks 
Councillor Rachael Ellis 
Councillor Roxanne Ellis 
Councillor Des Gibbons 

Councillor Alex Scroggie 
Councillor Martin Smith 
Councillor Clive Towsey-Hinton 
Councillor Paul Wilkinson 

 

Apologies for absence: Councillor Pat Bosworth, Councillor Julie Najuk and 
Councillor Sam Smith 

Officers in Attendance: L Chaplin, A Dubberley, B Hopewell and R Pentlow 

 
1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bosworth, Najuk 
and Sam Smith. Councillor Rachael Ellis attended as substitute. 
 

2    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 9 FEBRUARY 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

3    DECLARATION OF INTEREST.  
 
None. 
 

4    GEDLING GAMBLING STATEMENT OF POLICY  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Environment, 
Communities and Leisure seeking approval to consult on proposed 
amendments to the existing gambling statement of policy. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Note the proposed changes to the Council’s Gambling Statement of 
Policy; and 

 
2) Approve a public consultation, for a period of 4 weeks, in accordance 

with the Gambling Act and as detailed in the report.  

 
5    ANY OTHER ITEM WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  

Page 131

Agenda Item 14i



 

 
None. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 4.05 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 132



MINUTES 
CABINET 

 
Thursday 7 October 2021 

 
Councillor John Clarke (Chair) 

 
Present: Councillor Michael Payne 

Councillor Peter Barnes 
Councillor David Ellis 
Councillor Gary Gregory 

Councillor Jenny Hollingsworth 
Councillor Viv McCrossen 
Councillor Henry Wheeler 

 

Officers in Attendance: M Hill, A Ball, A Dubberley and B Hopewell 

 
39    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  

 
None. 
 

40    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 16 SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

41    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  
 
None. 
 

42    EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY POLICY AND ACTION PLAN  
 
The Director of Corporate Resources introduced a report, which had 
been circulated in advance of the meeting, following the public 
consultation on the draft Equality and Diversity Policy and Equality 
Framework and Action Plan, seeking approval for their adoption. 
 
Members asked that staff involved in the creation of the policy were 
thanked for their hard work in bringing it together. The Chief Executive 
added that an update on how the policy is working would be brought 
back to Cabinet in due course. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Note the responses to the public consultation on the Equality and 
Diversity Policy and Equality Framework and Action Plan; and 

 

Page 133

Agenda Item 14j



 

2) Approve the adoption of the Equality and Diversity Policy and Equality 
Framework and Action Plan (at Appendix 2 and 3 respectively), as 
detailed in the report. 

 
43    FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT CODE  

 
The Director of Corporate Resources introduced a report, which had 
been circulated in advance of the meeting, which presented the 
Financial Management Code that had been recommended for adoption 
by the Audit Committee. 
 
Members paid tribute to the hard working staff in the finance department 
and asked that a letter of thanks is sent to them.  
 
RESOLVED to: 
 
Approve the initial assessment, set out in Appendix 2 to the report, of the 
Council’s assessed level of compliance with the standards in the Code 
and the resulting actions required. 
 

44    REVIEW OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED BY THE COUNCIL AND 
ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER – LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL 
CARE OMBUDSMAN  
 
The Chief Executive introduced a report, which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting, presenting details of complaints and 
compliments received in the 2020/21 year and seeking approval of 
amendments to the various policies as detailed in the report. 

Again Members commented that they were appreciative of the hard work 
done by staff that deal with complaints and asked for their thanks to be 
passed on. It was also particularly pleasing to note the number of 
compliments received about the Leisure Service. 

RESOLVED to: 

1) Note the details of the Annual Review letter from the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman and the information in relation to the 
number of complaints dealt with by the Council through the internal 
complaints procedure in 2020/21; 

 
2) Approve the amendments to the Council’s Complaints, Compliments 

and Comments Policy as shown at Appendix 2 to the report; and 

 
3) Approve the amendments to the Council’s Unreasonably Persistent 

Complainants Policy as shown at Appendix 4 to the report. 

 
45    FORWARD PLAN  

 

Page 134



 

Consideration was given to a report of the Democratic Services 
Manager, which had been circulated prior to the meeting, detailing the 
Executive’s draft Forward Plan for the next four month period. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the report. 
 

46    ANY OTHER ITEMS THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  
 
None. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 2.35 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

MINUTES 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
Wednesday 13 October 2021 

 
Councillor John Truscott (Chair) 

 
In Attendance: Councillor Paul Wilkinson 

Councillor Peter Barnes 
Councillor David Ellis 
Councillor Rachael Ellis 
Councillor Andrew Ellwood 
Councillor Mike Hope 

Councillor Rosa Keneally 
Councillor Meredith Lawrence 
Councillor Ron McCrossen 
Councillor Marje Paling 
Councillor Sam Smith 
Councillor Henry Wheeler 

 

Absent: Councillor Michael Adams, Councillor Chris Barnfather, 
Councillor Barbara Miller and Councillor John Parr 

Officers in 
Attendance: 

M Avery, N Bryan, K Cartwright, S Fayaz and C Goodall 

 
44    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Adams, 
Barnfather, Miller and Parr.   
 
Councillor Sam Smith attended as substitute. 
 

45    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 8 SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

46    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
The Chair declared a collective non-pecuniary interest on behalf of all 
members in item 5 on the agenda, as part of the land was in the 
ownership of Gedling Borough Council.  
 

47    APPLICATION NO. 2021/0694 - LAND TO THE SOUTH BURTON 
ROAD, GEDLING  
 
Erection of 120 dwellings with associated access, landscaping and 
infrastructure (approval of matters reserved by outline consent 
2019/1186 (appearance, landscape, layout and scale)). 

Page 137

Agenda Item 14k



 

 
Clare Thornton, Senior Planner of Miller Homes (The Applicant), spoke 
in support of the application. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer introduced the report. He advised 
Members that further to the publication of the report additional 
comments had been received from Severn Trent Water who had raised 
no objections to the application, subject to entering a Section 106 
connection approval agreement which would secure a foul pumping 
station on the site.  He added that a letter of objection had also been 
received which raised no new issues.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 

To Grant reserved matters approval, subject to the imposition of 
conditions, as set out in the report: 
 
Conditions  
 
1.This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form 
and following list of approved drawings:  
- Site location plan (ref: 6097-L-05A)  
- Planning layout (ref: G-DPL-01D)  
- Materials layout plan (ref: BRG/MAT01 Rev C) 
- Affordable housing plan (ref: BRG/AHP/01 Rev C)  
- House Type Pack March 2021 (ref: BRG/HTP01)  
- POS Landscape proposals (ref: 06097-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-0001-P09)  
- Detailed LEAP plan (ref: 06097-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-0007-P06)  
- On plot landscaping proposals sheets 1 to 4 (ref: 06097-FPCR-XX-XX-
DR-L_0002-P04, 0003-P04, 0004-P04 and 0005-P04)  
- Detailed hardworks and boundary treatment plan (ref: 06097-FPCR-
XX-XX_DR-L-0006-P05) - Drainage/alternative pond layout/levels plan 
(ref: 22069-SK03 Rev F)  
- Swept path analysis plan (ref: 22069-108-A) 
 
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with 
these plans/details. 
 
2. No above ground works shall commence until samples of external 
facing and roofing materials have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall thereafter be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
3. Development shall proceed in accordance with the approved 
Arboricultural Assessment, which identifies the trees to be retained and 
protected; appropriate fencing to protect trees to be retained shall be in 
situ prior to commencement of development and be retained whilst 
development is underway that would impact on the trees and hedges to 
be retained.  
 

Page 138



 

4. Notwithstanding condition 1 above, no above ground works shall 
commence until details of the existing and proposed ground and finished 
floor levels of the site and approved building[s], including sections, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The development shall be carried out thereafter in accordance 
with the approved details.  
 
5. No above ground works shall commence until details of the new road 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority including longitudinal and cross-sectional gradients, street 
lighting, drainage and outfall proposals, construction specification, 
provision of and diversion of utilities services, and any proposed 
structural works. The development shall, thereafter, be implemented in 
accordance with the details as approved.  
 
6. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use 
until the access driveways and parking areas are constructed with 
provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water from the 
driveways and parking areas to the public highway. The provision to 
prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water to the public highway 
shall then be retained for the life of the development. 
 
7. No above ground works shall commence until details of the closing of 
the existing access arrangement to Burton Road to the North East of the 
bus turning facility have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. This should be implemented on occupation 
of the final plot on the private drive serving plots 89-94.  
 
Reasons 
  
1. For the avoidance of doubt.  
 
2.  To ensure that the character of the area is respected and to 

comply with policy ACS10 of the Aligned Core Strategy.  
 
3. To ensure that the character of the area and existing ecology in 

site is protected and to comply with policies LPD18 and ACS10.  
 
4.  In the interests of amenity and to respect the character of the 

area and to comply with policies LPD32 and ACS10.  
 
5.  To ensure that relevant parts of the development is constructed to 

adoptable standards.  
 
6.  To ensure surface water from the site is not deposited on the 

public highway causing dangers to road users.  
 
7. In the interests of Highway safety. 
 
 

Page 139



 

Notes to Applicant  
 
It is an offence under S148 and S151 of the Highways Act 1980 to 
deposit mud on the public highway and as such you should undertake 
every effort to prevent it occurring. 
 
The applicant should note that notwithstanding any planning permission, 
if any highway forming part of the development is to be adopted by the 
Highways Authority, the new roads and any highway drainage will be 
required to comply with the Nottinghamshire County Council's current 
highway design guidance and specification for roadworks.  
 
The Advanced Payments Code in the Highways Act 1980 applies and 
under section 219 of the Act payment will be required from the owner of 
the land fronting a private street on which a new building is to be 
erected. The developer should contact the Highway Authority with 
regard to compliance with the Code, in advance of any Section 38 
Agreement and bond under the Highways Act 1980 that a 
developer/applicant may wish to complete to enable adoption of 
highways. A Section 38 Agreement can take some time to complete. 
Therefore, it is recommended that the developer contact the Highway 
Authority as early as possible.  
 
A licence/agreement will be required to enable works to be undertaken 
on Burton Road to reinstate the existing access. 
 
 It is strongly recommended that the developer contact the Highway 
Authority at an early stage to clarify the codes etc. with which 
compliance will be required in the particular circumstance, and it is 
essential that design calculations and detailed construction drawings for 
the proposed works are submitted to and approved by the County 
Council (or District Council) in writing before any work commences on 
site.  
 
All correspondence with the Highway Authority for this development 
should be addressed to: hdc.south@nottscc.gov.uk  
 
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 
16th October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL). Full details of CIL are available on the Council's website. The 
proposed development has been assessed and it is the Council's view 
that CIL IS PAYABLE on the development hereby approved as is 
detailed below. Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and 
process for payment will be set out in the Regulation 65 Liability Notice 
which will be sent to you as soon as possible after this decision notice 
has been issued. If the development hereby approved is for a self-build 
dwelling, residential extension or residential annex you may be able to 
apply for relief from CIL. Further details about CIL are available on the 
Council's website or from the Planning Portal: 

Page 140



 

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosub
mit/cil 
 

48    APPLICATION NO. 2019/0374 - LAND OFF TEAL CLOSE, 
NETHERFIELD  
 
Variation of Conditions 2 (approved plans), 7 (parameters plan written 
statement), 10 (flood risk), 28 (highway works), 30 (highway works), 31 
(highway works), 32 (highway works), 33 (highway works) and 35 
(footway/cycleway) on planning permission reference 2017/0999 
 
The Principal Planning Officer introduced the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be granted permission subject to the applicant 
entering into a deed of variation amending the original Section 106 
Agreement dated 30 June 2014 as varied by the deed of variation dated 
27th February 2018 with the Borough Council as Local Planning 
Authority, City Council as transport authority and with the County 
Council as highways and education Authority to bind the new permission 
to all of the requirements of the original section 106 agreement as varied 
and to include additional planning obligations in the form of financial 
contributions in relation to the revised off-site highway works as detailed 
in paragraph 7.24. and subject to the following conditions: 
 
Conditions 
 

1 Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to 
the Local planning Authority not later than 30th June 2019. Details 
of Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and Scale (hereinafter 
called the reserved matters) for each phase of development shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development within that phase begins and 
the development shall be carried out as approved. The 
development hereby permitted shall commence no later than two 
years from the date of approval of the last reserved matters to be 
approved. 

 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

Schedule of Development Revision B submitted on the 10th 
October 2013 and the following plans: Site Location Plan 
DE076_016, Parameters Plan DE076_014 Rev D. The vehicular 
accesses to the site shall be constructed in general accordance, 
subject to detailed design, with drawing numbers: 90372_003 
(Revision B), deposited on 20th May 2013; and drawing number: 
90372_001 (Revision E), received on 6th August 2013. 

 
3 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in phases 

in accordance with the approved Phasing Schedule as approved 

Page 141



 

by planning reference 2017/1092DOC and 2018/0333DOC prior 
to the commencement of a particular phase. 

 
4 The development hereby approved comprises;(1) up to 830 

residential dwellings; (2) up to 18,000 square metres of business 
use falling within use classes B1 'Business', B2 'General 
Industrial' and B8 'Storage and Distribution'; (3) the creation of a 
local centre and commercial centre of up to 2,800 square metres 
within use classes falling into A1 'Shop', A2 'Financial', A3 
'Restaurant and café', A4 'Drinking Establishment', A5 'Hot Food 
Takeway', B1 'Business' and D1 'Non-residential institutions'; (4) a 
Hotel providing up to 150 beds; (5) up to 500 square metres of 
uses falling with use classes D1 ' Non- residential institutions' and 
D2 'Assembly and Leisure' (additional to (3) above); (6) a one 
form entry primary school which shall cover a minimum of 1.1ha; 
(7) a C2 'Residential Institution' of up to 60 beds; and (8) general 
opening space including landscaping, children's play areas, 
allotments and playing pitches as indicated on the approved 
parameters plan.  

 
5 The total B1 'Business' floor area within the business and/or local 

centre and commercial areas hereby approved shall comprise not 
more than 4,500 square metres. The local centre shall not 
comprise of more than 2,499 square metres floor area of A1 
'Shop' or D2 'Assembly and Leisure' uses. 

 
6 The total amount of A1 'Shop' floor space shall not exceed 1,500 

square metres and no individual A1 'Shop' unit shall exceed 750 
square metres (measured internally). 

 
7 Applications for the approval of reserved matters for each phase 

of development shall include a written statement setting out how 
that particular phase has been designed to take account of the 
approved Parameters Plan drawing reference DE076_014 Rev. 
D. 

 
8 Phase 1 of the development shall be read in accordance with the 

levels details as approved by planning reference 2017/1092DOC 
and 2018/0333DOC. 

 
 Phase 2 Residential elements of the development shall be 

undertaken in accordance with the levels details as approved by 
planning 2020/0562DOC.  

 
 Phase 2 employment elements of the development shall be 

undertaken in accordance with the levels details as approved by 
planning reference 2020/1085DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any remaining phase of 

development hereby approved a site level survey plan shall be 

Page 142



 

undertaken for that phase of development showing existing site 
levels. This existing site level survey plan shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
9 Buildings comprising Less Vulnerable uses (as defined by the 

National Planning Policy Framework) and their associated vehicle 
access routes within the development hereby approved shall have 
finished floor levels at no lower than 20.660m Ordnance Datum 
(AOD) where existing levels are at or exceed that level. Where 
existing levels are below 20.660m Ordnance Datum (AOD), set 
finished floor levels shall be a minimum of 20.660m Ordnance 
Datum (AOD) or 600mm above existing ground levels, whichever 
is lower. 

 
10 Prior to the commencement of any phase of development hereby 

approved a scheme for that phase of development to provide 
flood prevention design for More Vulnerable uses (as defined by 
the National Planning Policy Framework) shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The flood 
prevention design scheme shall: (1) Set finished floor levels for all 
More Vulnerable buildings to the east of the A612 to 20.690m 
above Ordnance Datum (AOD); (2) Set finished floor levels for all 
More Vulnerable buildings and associated vehicular access 
routes to the west of the A612 to 20.650m above Ordnance 
Datum (AOD), and (3) provide a minimum of 300mm flood 
resilience measures for all More Vulnerable Buildings unless the 
floor of the buildings is set at least 300mm above the finished 
floor levels stated in parts (1) and (2). The scheme for each phase 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the occupation of buildings within that phase. 

 
11 The development within the employment land shall be undertaken 

in accordance with the flood resilience design measures as 
approved by planning reference 2020/0306DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any other phase of development 

hereby approved relating to less vulnerable uses a scheme to 
provide flood resilience design for Less Vulnerable development, 
as defined by the National Planning Policy Framework, within that 
phase of development shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the occupation of any buildings within that phase and 
subsequently maintained. 

 
12 Prior to the occupation of any building(s) falling within use classes 

C3 'dwelling houses', C2 'Residential institutions', C1 'Hotels' or 
D1 'Non-residential institutions', a Verification Report confirming 
the finished base slab and wearing course levels of that 
building(s) and the finished levels of internal road(s) serving that 

Page 143



 

building(s) within the particular phase shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Verification Report for each phase shall also include confirmation 
that the approved flood resilient construction methods approved 
under condition 10 for More Vulnerable uses accords with the 
approved details.. 

 
13 The development within phase 1 shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the easement details approved by planning 
reference 2017/1092DOC and 2018/0333DOC. 

 
 The development within phase 2 shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the easement details approved by planning 
reference 2020/0562DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any remaining relevant phase of 

development hereby approved a scheme to provide a minimum of 
an 8 metre unobstructed easement from all watercourses, 
culverted watercourses and flood defence structures, including 
the Ouse Dyke (Main River) and any ordinary watercourses, 
within that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 
occupation of any buildings within that phase or any other 
features (i.e. playing fields) being brought into use and 
subsequently maintained. 

 
14 The development within the employment land shall be undertaken 

in accordance with the approved flood evacuation details as 
approved by planning reference 2020/0306DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any other relevant phase of 

development hereby approved an evacuation plan for all Less 
Vulnerable development at risk of flooding within that phase shall 
be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the 
occupation of any buildings within that phase and subsequently 
maintained. 

 
15 No ground raising or permanent built structures shall be built 

within the modelled floodplain of the Ouse Dyke as shown in the 
Flood Risk Assessment, November 2013, submitted as part of the 
outline planning application hereby approved. 

 
 
16 Development within Phase 1 shall be undertaken in accordance 

with the sustainable drainage details as approved by planning 
reference 2017/1092DOC and 2018/0333DOC. 

 

Page 144



 

 Development within the employment land shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the sustainable drainage details as approved by 
planning reference 2020/0306DOC. 

 
 Development within Phase 2 shall be undertaken in accordance 

with the sustainable drainage details as approved by planning 
reference 2020/0562DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any other phase of development 

hereby approved, a surface water drainage scheme for that phase 
of development, based on sustainable drainage principles and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of 
the development, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented 
in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of 
any buildings within that phase. The scheme (s) to be submitted 
shall demonstrate: (1)The utilisation of holding sustainable 
drainage techniques; (2) The limitation of surface water run-off to 
equivalent greenfield rates; (3) A minimum of two forms of surface 
water treatment to be provided prior to discharge from the site, in 
accordance with CIRIA C697; (4) The ability to accommodate 
surface water run-off on-site up to the critical 1 in 100 year event 
plus an appropriate allowance for climate change, based upon the 
submission of drainage calculations; and (5) Responsibility for the 
future maintenance of drainage features. 

 
17 Phase 1 of the development shall be undertaken in accordance 

with the foul drainage details as approved by planning reference 
2018/0332DOC. 

 
 The development within the employment land shall be undertaken 

in accordance with the foul drainage details as approved by 
planning reference 2020/0306DOC. 

 
 Phase 2 of the development shall be undertaken in accordance 

with the foul drainage details as approved by planning reference 
2020/0562DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any other phase of development 

hereby approved a scheme to dispose of foul drainage for that 
phase of development shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The scheme (s) shall be 
implemented as approved. 

 
 
18 The development within Phase 1 shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the remediation strategy as approved by 
planning reference 2018/0719DOC. 

 

Page 145



 

 The development within the employment land shall be undertaken 
in accordance with the remediation strategy as approved by 
planning reference 2020/0306DOC. 

 
 The development within Phase 2 shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the remediation strategy as approved by 
planning reference 2020/0562DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any other phase of development 

hereby approved a remediation strategy that addresses the 
provision of the following components to deal with the risks 
associated with contamination of that phase of the site, together 
with a programme for submission and prior approval of the 
component elements, shall each be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the local planning authority: (1) A preliminary risk 
assessment which has identified; (a) all previous uses (b)potential 
contaminants associated with those uses; and (c) a conceptual 
model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors 
potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the 
site; (2). A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide 
information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors 
that may be affected, including those off site; and (3) The results 
of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred 
to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation 
measures required and how and when they are to be undertaken. 
The scheme(s) and all details identified therein shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. Any 
changes to these components require the express written consent 
of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
19 Phase 1 of the development shall be undertaken in accordance 

with the remediation methodology as approved by planning 
reference 2018/0332DOC. 

 
 Development of the employment land shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the remediation methodology as approved by 
planning reference 2020/0306DOC. 

 
 Phase 2 of the development shall be undertaken in accordance 

with the remediation methodology as approved by planning 
reference 2020/0562DOC. 

 
 Prior to the occupation of each phase of development hereby 

approved a verification plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The verification plan shall 
provide details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in 
(3) (of condition above 18) are complete and identifies any 
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 

Page 146



 

maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. The 
verification plan(s) and all details identified therein shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. Any 
changes to these components require the express written consent 
of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
20 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 

out the approved development that was not previously identified 
pursuant to condition 18 above must be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority and once the Local 
Planning Authority has identified the part of the site affected by 
the unexpected contamination development must be halted on 
that part of the site until an assessment has been undertaken in 
accordance with the requirements set out in condition 18 and 19 
above, and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme, together with a timetable for its implementation and 
verification reporting, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development must 
then proceed in accordance with the approved details. 

 
21 The development within Phase 1 shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the construction lighting details as approved by 
planning reference 2018/0332DOC and 2018/0333DOC. 

 
 The development within the employment land shall be undertaken 

in accordance with the construction lighting details as approved 
by planning reference 2020/1085DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any other phase of development 

hereby approved, details of any lighting to be used during the 
construction of that particular phase of development shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The details to be submitted shall indicate the location 
and type of lighting to be utilised together with luminance levels 
and hours that lighting will be in operation. The lighting of the 
construction of any approved phase of development shall be lit in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
22 The development of employment units 1 and units 6-13 shall be 

undertaken in accordance with the operational lighting details 
approved by planning reference 2021/0511DOC. 

 
 Details of any lighting to be provided (other than street lighting 

and lighting within domestic curtilages) during the operational 
phase of that phase of development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its 
implementation. The details to be submitted shall indicate the 
location and type of lighting to be utilised together with luminance 
levels and hours that any such lighting will be in operation. The 

Page 147



 

lighting of the development during its operational phase shall be 
carried out in accordance with the details approved. 

 
23 If the sports pavilion to the north of the A612 is not demolished by 

the 30th June 2014, then in accordance with the submitted Bat 
Activity Surveys at the sports pavilion off Teal Close report further 
bat survey work shall be undertaken and an assessment report 
together with any proposed mitigation measures shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, prior to any demolition taking place. Any approved 
mitigation measures shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. In the unlikely event that bat(s) are found during 
the demolition of the sports pavilion then the procedure set out in 
the appendix to the Bat Activity Surveys at the sports pavilion off 
Teal Close report (dated 24th June 2013) shall be followed. 

 
24 The development within Phase 1 shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) as approved by planning reference 2018/0332DOC 
and 2018/0333DOC. 

 
 The development within the employment land shall be undertaken 

in accordance with the Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) as approved by planning reference 2020/0306DOC. 

 The development within Phase 2 shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) as approved by planning reference 2020/0562DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any other phase of development 

hereby approved a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) for that phase of development shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Each 
CEMP shall include the following details; (1) the hedgerow and 
tree protection measures that shall be implemented for all 
retained woodland, trees and hedgerows approved as part of the 
landscaping details to be submitted as part of the reserved 
matters pursuant to this application. A statement shall also be 
provided which details how the protection measures shall be 
implemented so as to minimise damage and disturbance to 
habitats within the vicinity and the species they support. The 
protection measures shall accord with current British Standards in 
relation to design, demolition and construction (BS5837:2012 or 
any subsequent revision); (2) the measures that shall be 
implemented during the construction of that particular phase of 
the development so as to minimise water runoff and works 
pollution entering watercourses; and (3) the measures that shall 
be implemented so as to avoid any disturbance to nesting birds 
during that particular phase of construction.(4) details of traffic 
routes for Heavy Good Vehicular movements during the 
construction of that phase of development. (5) details of wheel 

Page 148



 

washing facilities to be used by vehicles entering and leaving site 
during the construction of that phase of development; and (6) 
details of how the principle of Best Practicable Means shall be 
applied in relation to minimising impact on the surrounding area 
during the construction of that particular phase of development in 
relation to noise and vibration and safeguarding air quality.  The 
approved CEMP(s) and all details therein shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
25 Phase 1 of the development shall be undertaken in accordance 

with the scheme of archaeological investigation as approved by 
planning reference 2017/1092DOC. 

 
 The development within the employment land areas E1 and LC1 

shall be undertaken in accordance with the scheme of 
archaeological investigation as approved by planning reference 
2019/0567DOC. 

 
 Phase 2 of the development shall be undertaken in accordance 

with the scheme of archaeological investigation as approved by 
planning reference 2020/0562DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any other phase of development 

hereby approved a written scheme of archaeological investigation 
related to that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out strictly in accordance with the approved scheme(s). 

 
26 Prior to the commencement of any development on the existing 

playing pitches located to the west of the A612 (including the 
demolition of the existing sports pavilion) replacement playing 
pitches (including associated changing room facilities) hereby 
approved to the east of the A612 shall have been provided and 
shall be operational. 

 
27 Prior to the commencement of development of the playing pitches 

to be provided to the east of the A612 details of the following shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority; (1) the location and specification of the playing pitches 
to be provided together with details of their drainage; (2) the 
location and specifications of the changing room facilities to be 
provided; and (3) a schedule of maintenance of the playing 
pitches and associated drainage. The playing pitches and 
changing room facilities shall be provided, managed and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

 
28 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, 

other than the business development to be accessed off Stoke 
Lane, the site access junction from the A612 as shown in outline 
on plan reference 90372_001 Revision E and the construction 

Page 149



 

details approved under 2017/1092DOC shall be implemented 
prior to the occupation of the first dwelling 

 
29 Prior to first occupation of the business floor space (Class B1, B2, 

B8) hereby approved (aside from any B1 use contained in the 
Local Centre) the access from Stoke Lane as shown in outline on 
plan reference 90372_003 Revision B shall be provided in 
accordance with the construction details to be first submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
business floorspace hereby approved (Class B1, B2, B8) (aside 
from any B1 use contained in the Local Centre) shall only be 
accessed via Stoke Lane, other than in an emergency. 

 
30 Deleted. 
 
31 Deleted. 
 
32 Deleted. 
 
33 Deleted. 
 
34 Deleted. 
 
35 The construction of a new shared footway/cycleway along the 

northern boundary of the site is to be completed in general 
accordance with details approved under 2017/1092DOC. The 
shared footway/cycleway shall be provided prior the occupation of 
the 350th dwelling of the development hereby approved. 

 
36 The development within Phase 1 shall be undertaken in 

accordance with local labour agreement as approved by planning 
reference 2018/0332DOC. 

 The development within the employment land shall be undertaken 
in accordance with local labour agreement as approved by 
planning reference 2020/1121DOC. 

 
 The development within Phase 2 shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the local labour agreement as approved by 
planning reference 2020/0562DOC. 

 
 Prior to the commencement of any other phase of development 

hereby approved details of a local labour agreement to cover the 
construction of that phase of development shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The local 
labour agreement shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reasons 
 

Page 150



 

1 In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase 

 Act 2004 and Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 
 
2 For the avoidance of doubt 
 
3 To provide a degree of flexibility to assist the delivery of the site, 

that also enables the Local Authority to monitor and manage the 
supply of housing and employment land. 

 
4 To define the consent and to ensure that a satisfactory form of 

development is obtained. 
 
5 A limit has been placed on B1 uses in order to ensure an 

appropriate balance of uses. A limit has also been placed on the 
amount of A1 and D2 uses in order to ensure that there is no 
adverse impact on any surrounding local centres. 

 
6 A limit has been placed on the amount of A1 uses to ensure that 

such uses are commensurate with the scale of the proposed 
development and would not cause harm to viability of the nearby 
Netherfield Centre. 

 
7 To ensure that a satisfactory development is achieved that takes 

account of the Parameters Plan. 
 
8 To establish existing site levels in order to ensure that finished 

floor levels accord with conditions 9 to 12 below and that flood 
risk is appropriately mitigated in line with the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
9 To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and 

future occupants. 
 
10 To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and 

future occupants. 
 
11 To reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed development. 
 
12 To ensure that finished floor levels accord with conditions 9 and 

10 above and that approved flood resilient measures have been 
provided in order to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants. 

 
13 To allow for future maintenance, emergency access, natural 

morphology, and improvements of the watercourses. Please note 
that our records show a culverted watercourse located between 
the storage pond (immediately south of the A612) and the Ouse 

Page 151



 

Dyke, which will require further investigation at detailed design 
stage. 

 
14 To confirm that all occupants and site users can access and 

egress the site safely during time of flood. 
 
15 To prevent an increase in flood risk elsewhere. 
 
16 To prevent the increased risk of flooding elsewhere. 
 
17 To ensure that the proposals are appropriate and protective of 

controlled waters. 
 
18 The submitted Phase 1 Desk Study, Curtins Consulting, January 

2013 (preliminary risk assessment) identifies potential for 
contamination. This condition is required to ensure that the risks 
posed to controlled waters are investigated and remediated as 
necessary and that the site is remediated appropriately. 

 
19 The submitted Phase 1 Desk Study, Curtins Consulting, January 

2013 (preliminary risk assessment) identifies potential for 
contamination. This condition is required to ensure that the risks 
posed to controlled waters are investigated and remediated as 
necessary and that the site is remediated appropriately. 

 
20 This condition is required to ensure that the risks posed to 

controlled waters or the environment are investigated and 
remediated as necessary. 

 
21 To minimise light spill around the development during the 

construction of the development as inappropriate lighting could 
have an adverse impact on nocturnal species such as bats. 

 
22 To minimise light spill around the development during the 

operation of the development as inappropriate lighting could have 
an adverse impact on nocturnal species such as bats 

 
23 To ensure that the demolition of the sports pavilion has no 

adverse impact upon bats 
 
24 To ensure that appropriate measures are taken to protect the 

local environment in terms of impact on trees; hedgerows and 
woodland, flora and fauna, water quality, air quality and on the 
amenity of neighbouring uses. 

 
25 To ensure that the site is surveyed appropriately to identify any 

potential archaeology and if found is appropriately dealt with. 
 
26 To ensure that the replacement recreation ground is in operation 

prior to the existing pitches being removed, so as to protect sports 

Page 152



 

facilities and ensure continuity for those sports affected by the 
proposed development. 

 
27 To ensure that the required replacement playing pitches and 

changing room facilities are provided appropriately in order to 
provide satisfactory replacement facilities for those to be lost as 
part of the development hereby approve 

 
28 In the interests of highway safety. 
 
29 In the interests of highway safety. 
 
30 Deleted 
 
31 Deleted 
 
32 Deleted 
 
33 Deleted 
 
34 Deleted 
 
35 To promote sustainable travel. 
 
36 To seek to ensure that the construction of the site employs 

wherever possible local people and assists economic growth in 
the area. 

 
 
 
Notes to Applicant 
  
 The Borough Council has worked positively and proactively with 

the applicant in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019). Negotiations have taken 
place during the determination of the application to address 
adverse impacts identified by officers. Amendments have 
subsequently been made to the proposal, addressing the 
identified adverse impacts, thereby resulting in a more acceptable 
scheme and a favourable recommendation. 

 The applicant is advised that the Use Classes Order was 
amended on 1st September 2020. As such any use classes 
reference in this permission shall be read in conjunction with the 
revised legislation in relation to any future changes of use. 

 

 

 
49    APPLICATION NO. 2021/0050 - 41 CLOVELLY DRIVE, 

MAPPERLEY  
 

Page 153



 

Footpath Diversion 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Members authorise the Head of Governance and Customer 
Services to make an order to divert Carlton Footpath No. 1 as set out in 
the submitted plans and, if the Order is unopposed following the 
requisite 28 day consultation period, that the Order be confirmed 
thereafter.    
 

50    ENFORCEMENT REF. 0104/2021 - 4 ANGELA CLOSE, REDHILL  
 
Material change of use of residential dwelling (Use Class C3) to a mixed 
use of residential dwelling (Use Class C3) and a car sales business (sui 
generis) and storage of vehicles in connection with that business (Use 
Class B8). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Head of Development and Place be authorised to take all 
relevant planning enforcement action including the service of any 
necessary enforcement notices and, in conjunction with the Head of 
Governance and Customer Services, take proceedings through the 
courts, if required, to ensure: 
 

a)  the cessation of the unauthorised car sales business 
including bringing vehicles to the property to be prepared 
in readiness for sale and storing vehicles awaiting sale at 
the property; 

 
(b)  the removal of all vehicles  which are  not incidental or 

ancillary to the domestic residential use of the dwelling. 
 

51    TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 000144 - REDHILL PAVILION, 
THORNTON AVENUE, REDHILL  
 
Protection of group consisting of 1 x Cedar, 1 x Red Oak and 1 x Sorbus 
by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To Confirm Tree Preservation Order - 000144 ‘Former sports pavilion, 

Thornton Avenue’ without modifications. 

 
52    TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 000145 - LAND TO THE REAR OF 

111 SANDFIELD ROAD, ARNOLD  
 
Protection of 1 no. Pear tree by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 
 

Page 154



 

RESOLVED: 
 
To Confirm Tree Preservation Order - 000145 ‘Land to the Rear of 111 
Sandfield Road, Arnold’ without modifications. 
 

53    APPLICATION DECISION REF: APP/N3020/D/21/3272382 - 1 
OXTON ROAD, CALVERTON  
 
Single storey rear extension. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the information. 
 

54    APPEAL DECISION REF: APP/N3020/W/21/3272020, 
APP/N3020/W/21/3272871, APP/N3020/W/21/3272865 AND 
APP/N3020/W/21/3276147 - RAMPER COVERT WOODLAND NEXT 
TO LAY BY, MANSFIELD ROAD, ARNOLD  
 
Ramper Covert Woodland next to Lay By, Mansfield Road, Arnold NG5 
8PH 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the information. 
 

55    APPEAL DECISION REF: 2021/0026 - SPRING LANE FARM, 382, 
SPRING LANE, LAMBLEY  
 
Proposed Single Storey Conservatory Extension. 
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the information. 
 

56    APPEAL DECISION REF: APP/N3020/D/21/3272382 - LAND TO 
REAR OF 14 MAIN STREET, LINBY  
 
Alterations and extensions to detached garage to form a new dwelling. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the information. 
 

57    FUTURE APPLICATIONS  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the information. 

Page 155



 

 
58    PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL ACTION SHEETS  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
To note the information. 
 

59    ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  
 
None. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 6.35 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 156



MINUTES 
ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
Tuesday 2 November 2021 

 
Councillor Marje Paling (Chair) 

 
Present: Councillor Nicki Brooks 

Councillor Pat Bosworth 
Councillor Des Gibbons 
Councillor Julie Najuk 

Councillor Alex Scroggie 
Councillor Martin Smith 
Councillor Sam Smith 
Councillor Clive Towsey-Hinton 

 

Absent: Councillor Roxanne Ellis and Councillor Paul 
Wilkinson 

Officers in Attendance: L Chaplin, A Dubberley, P Gibbs and B Hopewell 

 
40    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.  

 
Apologies for absence was received from Councillors Roxanne Ellis and 
Wilkinson. 
 

41    TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 5 OCTOBER 2021  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

42    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  
 
None. 
 

43    ANY OTHER ITEM WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.  
 
None. 
 

44    EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That, the Members being satisfied that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information 
that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting during the consideration 
of the ensuing reports on the grounds that the report involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 7 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Page 157

Agenda Item 14l



 

 
45    CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE HOLDER OF HACKNEY 

CARRIAGE/PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCE  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Environment 
Communities and Leisure, which had been circulated in advance of the 
meeting, regarding a change of circumstances following information 
received about the holder of a Joint Hackney Carriage/ Private Hire 
Driver’s Licence. 
 
AK attended the meeting along with a family member and they both 
addressed the Committee. 
 
In making the decision the Committee applied the Council’s approved 
Policy and Guidelines. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Suspend AK’s licence for 60 days with immediate effect; and 

 
2) Issue a warning to AK that such conduct fell short of the expected 

standard for Hackney Carriage Drivers and that further such incidents 
would result in another appearance before the Committee. 

 
AK was given until 12 pm on the following day to surrender his Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire vehicle plates and was advised of his right of 
appeal against the decision of the Committee. 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 5.30 pm 
 
 

 
 

Signed by Chair:    
Date:   

  

Page 158



 

 
 
Decisions made under delegated authority 

Business (click to view 
decision) 

Summary Ref. Date Portfolio Was decision 
made under 

urgency 
provisions?  

Consultation Draft Parking 
Provision for Residential and 
Non-Residential 
Developments: Supplementary 
Planning Document 

To approve consultation on the 
draft “Parking Provision for 
Residential and Non-
Residential Developments: 
Supplementary Planning 
Document” 

D1237 25/10/2021 Growth and Regeneration No 

Relief for Council Taxpayers – 
Covid-19 Hardship Fund 
2021/22 

To approve scheme for 
Council tax discounts in the 
case of hardship  

D1239 25/10/2021 Leader of the Council No 

Discretionary Additional 
Restrictions Business Grants – 
Determination of Grants 
2021/22 Tranche 2 

To approve grants for eligible 
businesses. 

D1236 13/10/2021 Resources and Reputation No 

Nottinghamshire County 
Council Developer 
Contributions Strategy 
Consultation Draft 2021 

Approval of Council’s response 
to the consultation 

D1234 07/10/2021 Growth and Regeneration No 

Purchase of parcel of land in 
the Gedling ward 

Approval to purchase a parcel 
of land thorough auction 

D1233 30/09/2021 Leader of the Council No 

Proposed Street Name for the 
Nottinghamshire County 
Council site, Rolleston Drive 
Arnold Nottinghamshire 

Approval of street names at 
new development 

D1231 21/09/2021 Growth and Regeneration No 

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 14m

https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1237
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1237
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1237
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1237
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1237
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1239
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1239
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1239
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1236
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1236
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1236
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1236
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1234
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1234
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1234
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1234
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1233
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1233
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1231
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1231
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1231
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1231


  

Proposed Street Name for the 
Site Of The Earl Of 
Chesterfield Carlton Hill 
Carlton Nottingham 

Approval of street names at 
new development 

D1230 21/09/2021 Growth and Regeneration No 

Housing Assistance 
(discretionary Warm Homes on 
Prescription) Grant 

Approval to the award of a 
discretionary Housing 
Assistance Grant 

D1229 21/09/2021 Public Protection No 

Request to not recover Local 
Land Charge associated with a 
Disabled Facilities Grant 

Approval not to recover two 
Local Land Charges registered 
against a property where the 
occupant was in receipt of a 
mandatory and discretionary 
Disabled Facilities Grant from 
the Council. 

D1228 21/09/2021 Public Protection No 

Housing Assistance 
(discretionary Warm Homes on 
Prescription) Grant 

Approval to the award of a 
discretionary Housing 
Assistance Grant 

D1224 21/09/2021 Public Protection No 

Proposed Street Names for 
land adjacent to 16 Kighill 
Lane Ravenshead  

Approval of street names at 
new development 

D1223 07/09/2021 Growth and Regeneration No 

Discretionary Additional 
Restrictions Business Grants – 
Determination of Grants 
2021/22 

Approval to allocate grants 
under the scheme 

D1226 07/09/2021 Resources and Reputation No 

Introduction of Fixed Penalty 
Notices for contraventions of 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 s 34(2A) relating to 
household waste 

To set penalty levels for 
offences under the 
Environmental Protection Act 

D1219 01/09/2021 Public Protection No 

P
age 160

https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1230
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1230
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1230
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1230
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1229
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1229
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1229
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1228
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1228
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1228
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1224
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1224
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1224
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1223
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1223
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1223
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1226
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1226
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1226
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1226
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1219
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1219
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1219
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1219
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1219


  

 
 

Delegation to Acquire Property 
for Temporary Accommodation 

To delegate authority to 
acquire properties for 
Temporary Accommodation in 
consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder 

D1225 02/09/2021 Leader of the Council No 

P
age 161

https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1225
https://democracy.gedling.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1225


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 15 September 2021
	9 Changes to Representation on Committees
	10 Appointment of co-opted Parish Representative to the Standards Committee
	11 Review of the Code of Conduct for Members
	2020.12.23 APPROVED  3.12.20 LGA Model Code of Conduct 2020 FINAL
	code Review
	Approved Code of Conduct 17 07 19

	12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme
	CTRS Appendix 2 EIA 17 Nov 21

	13 External Audit Procurement
	14a Minutes of meeting Monday 6 September 2021 of Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	14b Minutes of meeting Tuesday 7 September 2021 of Environment and Licensing Committee
	14c Minutes of meeting Wednesday 8 September 2021 of Planning Committee
	14d Minutes of meeting Thursday 9 September 2021 of Standards Committee
	14e Minutes of meeting Thursday 16 September 2021 of Cabinet
	14f Minutes of meeting Tuesday 21 September 2021 of Audit Committee
	14g Minutes of meeting Tuesday 5 October 2021 of Environment and Licensing Committee
	14h Minutes of meeting Wednesday 6 October 2021 of Appointments and Conditions of Service Committee
	14i Minutes of meeting Tuesday 5 October 2021 of Licensing Act Committee
	14j Minutes of meeting Thursday 7 October 2021 of Cabinet
	14k Minutes of meeting Wednesday 13 October 2021 of Planning Committee
	14l Minutes of meeting Tuesday 2 November 2021 of Environment and Licensing Committee
	14m Decisions made under delegated authority

